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PREFACE



THIS BOOK IS THE STORY of two American presidents who set off for their inaugurations on the same day, early in 1861, starting from two different places and heading to two different cities: the one to Washington to try to hold the United States together as a single nation, the other to Montgomery to establish a separate, independent nation of the South: the Confederate States of America.


This unprecedented situation featured, on one side, Mr. Abraham Lincoln, the recently elected, self-educated lawyer-cum-politician from Illinois; on the other, the born soldier from Mississippi, General Jefferson Davis. Both men were roughly the same age, both unusually tall, and both traveling as competing presidents-elect: girding themselves to wield their rhetorical, executive, and military power from two different capitals. Their solemn inaugurations would be followed, only weeks later, by open warfare—and after that, inexorably, by an epic military struggle for the true soul of America: a war that would result in more casualties on American soil than any other in American history, before or since, and which would fundamentally shape the nation’s destiny.


The Civil War itself, to be sure, has been the focus of many thousands of books, chronicles, articles, films, and documentaries. My chief focus, however, has been on the two presidents themselves, Abraham Lincoln and Jefferson Davis—along with their wives, Mary Todd Lincoln and Varina Howell Davis—as they struggled to manage their respective sides of the fatal conflict. This story has been told many times, but always from the viewpoint of just one of the rivals: either that of Abraham Lincoln or Jefferson Davis. Lincoln vs. Davis: The War of the Presidents is my attempt, as a biographer, to tell it for the first time from both men’s perspectives. As far as possible, I’ve attempted to get into their warring minds and hearts—hopefully supplying enough context, meanwhile, to judge their actions and decisions, both at the time and in retrospect.


The story of the two competing commanders in chief in their White Houses is, in every way, a unique and unpredictable tale—one that, when viewed close-up, is as mired in treason, treachery, tragedy, and villainy as any Shakespearean history play. It features noble characters, but also egregious ones. A secretary of state plotting a coup d’état; a top commander who switches sides; another who is silenced for freeing the enslaved; a proslavery general who, in opposition to his president, attempts to make the U.S. Army his launchpad to imaginary greatness; a formerly enslaved Black newspaper editor, crying in the wilderness; a passionate woman who threatens a duel with the monarch; a formerly enslaved seamstress working for a loyal First Lady who loses a son in one White House, while another First Lady for whom she had earlier worked gives birth to a son in her White House a mere hundred miles away…


In February 1861, many people viewed the struggle between the two impending presidents, Abe Lincoln and Jeff Davis, as a contest of wills, one that would test the qualities of character of the two leaders. That expectation grew only stronger as they assumed the roles of commanders in chief on behalf of their supporters, not only in their respective White Houses but also in the battles they directed their generals and their men to fight: battles that began with the historic bombardment of Fort Sumter on April 12, 1861, and continued with the great clashes of arms—Bull Run, Shiloh, Seven Pines, the Seven Days Battles, Second Bull Run, Antietam…


Underlying that historic wartime confrontation, however, festered a far deeper division, a far greater issue—the matter of slavery. It was, as Lincoln later admitted, both the cause of the war and the marker of its course from the very start. Yet for different reasons both presidents attempted to “shove it under the rug,” as the great Civil War historian James McPherson once put it, for almost a year and a half of increasingly venomous hostilities.


Slavery couldn’t be kept under the proverbial rug, however. And when Lincoln finally stopped trying—when he finally admitted to himself and the world that the issue of slavery was the key not only to understanding the war but to ending it—everything changed. The conflict and the country would never be the same.


The story of how and why the vacillator in chief was compelled at last to make up his mind and counterstrike at the very root of the Confederacy’s mass armed insurrection, is perhaps the most consequential part of this epic drama.


Abraham Lincoln’s decision would stun both his adversary and the world by changing the very terms of the war—its casus belli—and thereby determining its outcome. For, thanks to this extraordinary turnaround, the Confederacy would, in its very hour of triumph, find itself doomed—shorn of any hope of foreign recognition, with consequences that would alter American history forever.


As such, this is not just a book about the past. The extraordinary presidential duel that Presidents Lincoln and Davis fought has acquired uncanny resonance more than a hundred and sixty years later: a time not only of increasingly contentious, often violent division between American citizens espousing contrasting ideologies, but the clash of opposing leaders over the very concept of democracy and—acknowledged and unacknowledged—the matter of race and racial justice in America still today, just as emancipation had been in the Civil War.


A Shakespearean drama indeed—for their time and ours.















PART ONE



THE RIVALS
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Competing Presidents


TRAVELING BY TRAIN, two tall Americans set off on the morning of Monday, February 11, 1861, starting seven hundred miles apart from each other from two western American towns, Springfield, Illinois, and Vicksburg, Mississippi, to their respective inaugurations as competing presidents in Washington, D.C., and Montgomery, Alabama.


The first inaugural, ironically, was to be that of the president-elect of the newly formed, treasonous Confederate States of America, General Jefferson Davis—a ceremony slated to take place immediately after Davis’s arrival in Montgomery. In this way, hoped the leaders of the convention being held to establish the new “nation,” Davis’s inauguration would preempt by several weeks that of the president-elect of the United States of America, Abraham Lincoln. For Lincoln’s inaugural in Washington was set by the U.S. Constitution to take place only on March 4, 1861, four months after his victory in the 1860 presidential election.


Two men, then, setting forth to become presidents in what, since 1776, had been one country.
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Whether either of the two presidents-elect would even reach his appointed destination was questionable as they left their homes in Illinois and Mississippi, given the partisanship, secession, and dissension riving the country since Mr. Lincoln’s election on November 6, 1860. Assassination had been threatened against both men in their roles as standard-bearers of their sections of the country: “Black” Republicans (so called because their party opposed slavery) versus Southern Democrats (who were intent upon preserving slavery if not forever, then for as long as possible).


Both individuals were already well known nationally. Though the legitimacy of secession by seven Southern states since the election might be disputed, none of their supporters appeared to question their leaders’ entitlement to travel to their capitals in their upcoming roles as presidents of their opposing factions. Two adversaries-in-waiting, therefore—waiting to don the mantles of command and political rule as their nations’ commanders in chief, if indeed the young Confederacy could be called a nation.


“Honest Abe” Lincoln, born in a log cabin: a former Illinois rail splitter, a pioneer farmer, who’d turned lawyer and had become a sensationally gifted political orator over recent years.


And “Jeff” Davis, a national hero from the Mexican War, then a U.S. senator and U.S. secretary of war in Washington in the 1850s.


In some ways, the two Americans were remarkably similar.


Mr. Lincoln and Major General Davis were almost exactly the same age, born in Kentucky within eight months of each other, little more than 100 miles apart.


Both men had been U.S. congressmen in the 1840s: Davis serving first, for two years in the House of Representatives, then Lincoln immediately after, for two years.


Both men were married with young children who would live with them in their white mansions.


Both had already lost a son and would lose one more in the following struggle.1


Both were tall and imposing: Davis six-foot, Lincoln six-foot-four.


Their long, zigzagging train journeys—1,904 miles for Mr. Lincoln, 700 miles for General Davis—would make their names even better known in an America boasting more than three thousand newspapers.2 Also, however, subjecting them to greater and greater curiosity, support, hostility, and potential violence as the country willfully undertook its most challenging test of democracy since the American Revolution that had expelled the British in 1783.


It would be, therefore, quite a contest.


A quasi-duel between the Northern, democratically elected politician, Mr. Abraham Lincoln, ranged against the distinguished Southern soldier and slaveholder, appointed by Confederate representatives, General Jefferson Davis.


Under these two opposing presidents a civil war, rather than a negotiated settlement, seemed to many observers to be inevitable.


In which one was a trained and experienced warrior, however, the other was not.
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Mr. Lincoln’s train was the first to start, from Springfield, Illinois, at 8:00 a.m. on February 11, 1861. Given the distance to be traveled and its itinerary, it would also be the last to arrive at its final destination, the U.S. capital.


Decorated with much patriotic bunting, Mr. Lincoln’s Special was pulled by a 4-4-0 Hinckley locomotive, the L. M. Wiley—named, ironically, after a Southern slaveholder.3 It comprised a comfortable car for the president-elect, with two cloth-covered tables and leather-backed chairs, together with, initially, only one ordinary passenger car.4 It would soon add more cars, however, and grow to three carriages: the president-elect’s own car; a second, yellow-painted carriage for the president’s staff, bodyguards, and doctor; and a third car for the press and others.


Its first major stop was to be in Indianapolis on the evening of February 11—though with many a station halt (and brief speech made) in between.


At full steam, the clattering Special made about thirty miles per hour: its noisy swaying motion rendering it impossible for the president-elect to write down for an accompanying journalist, the twenty-five-year-old, German-born Henry Villard (né Frederick Hilgard, an émigré under sentence of death in Bavaria for subversion against the monarchy), exactly what he remembered of the wording of his farewell speech at the Great Western depot in Springfield. From memory Mr. Lincoln therefore dictated to Villard what he recalled having said extempore.5


“My friends,” Mr. Lincoln had begun. “My Friends: No one not in my position can appreciate the sadness I feel at this parting. To this people I owe all that I am. Here I have lived more than a quarter of a century; here my children were born, and here one of them lies buried. I know not how soon I shall see you again. A duty devolves upon me which is, perhaps, greater than that which has devolved upon any other man since the days of Washington.”6


George Washington, Lincoln continued, “never would have succeeded except for the aid of Divine Providence, upon which he at all times relied. I feel that I cannot succeed without the same Divine aid which sustained him, and in the same Almighty Being I place my reliance for support; and I hope you, my friends, will all pray that I may receive that Divine assistance, without which I cannot succeed, but with which success is certain. Again I bid you all an affectionate farewell.”7


Mr. Lincoln wasn’t old—in fact he was the third-youngest president ever elected, and slightly younger than his opposing president-elect, General Davis—Mr. Lincoln turning fifty-two the next day, when the two men would be the same age.


Both men seemed, however, oddly reticent over their new status—each humbled at the enormity of the task facing them. The one to preserve the Union of the United States, as established in 1776 when casting off its embarrassing title of “United Colonies.” The other threatening to do the very opposite: namely to preside, in the Deep South, over the disunion of the United States.
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Given the situation in America, it was understandable that Mr. Lincoln looked somber and a bit depressed. He was.


Six states had seceded from the Union, with a seventh awaiting only its governor’s signature. President Buchanan’s lone attempt to take military action to stop the secessionist cascade by force, in South Carolina, had been a fiasco in January 1861, while efforts to find a political compromise, pressed by Senator John Crittenden, had been a failure too.


To make matters worse, Mr. Lincoln’s wife, Mary Todd Lincoln—whose mental stability had been an issue before their marriage and worse still during it—had had a debilitating tantrum at the hotel in Springfield, just as the president-elect made to leave for the station.


Henry Villard—reporting on Mr. Lincoln for the New York Herald since December—had already noted for the newspaper how, understandably, “the close approach of the departure has made him unusually grave and reflecting”: the president-elect’s mind drawn “to his cherished past rather than the uncertain future.”8


That future, however, was inescapable: the country, as a union, seemingly hurtling toward an abyss like a runaway train, traveling far faster than thirty miles an hour. Hearing rumors of murder plots, and daunted by what he considered a national “mission,” as Villard put it, Mr. Lincoln had told his old law partner, William Herndon, that he should keep their sign hanging outside the practice—yet he had also confided that he didn’t think he would come back alive.9


John Hay, the president-elect’s young new assistant personal secretary, who was writing anonymously for the New York World on behalf of Mr. Lincoln, also reported the president-elect’s mood: how he “exhibited much sadness at his approaching departure,” rather than joy or excitement. In fact he’d seemed “to have been quite forsaken by his usual hilarious good spirits.”10


In truth, Mr. Lincoln’s melancholy had reached its nadir half an hour before the Special left. With an omnibus carriage waiting at the Chenery House hotel to take Mr. Lincoln to the station at 7:30 a.m., no president-elect had been found downstairs.


A friend, going to Mr. Lincoln’s room to ascertain the reason for the delay, “found Lincoln seated in a chair,” according to Villard, “with his head bowed and a look of the utmost misery.”11 His wife—who would shortly become the First Lady of the United States and who loved wide crinoline and sweeping silk dresses—was lying on the floor, disconsolate. Not, Villard later maintained, because of the dangers awaiting them in Washington, or even on the way there, but because Abraham had refused to promise to find a position in his forthcoming administration to an office seeker who’d offered Mary a diamond necklace.


“She will not let me go,” Mr. Lincoln had supposedly groaned.12
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The story was thought to have been apocryphal—or mis-chronicled, inasmuch as Mary’s outburst had possibly taken place on another, similar occasion.13 But according to a young well-wisher at the time, Herman Kreisman, it was true: Mary “lying on the floor upstairs, screaming and beating the floor with her hands and feet” over the promised diamond necklace.14


If Mary was anxious, even apoplectic that morning, then, she had abundant cause to be so, however, since Mr. Lincoln had decided to depart without her, taking with him only their eldest son, Robert, sixteen, while Mary would have to follow later with their two younger children, Tad (Thomas), seven, and Willie (William), ten. She’d soon pulled herself together, in any event. Following her husband in a carriage to the station, she’d seen him off, standing under an umbrella together with perhaps a hundred people on the drab platform as Abraham, removing his black stovepipe hat despite the falling rain, had spoken as if in communal prayer—which, in essence, his speech had been.


Harper’s Weekly, reporting on the occasion, recorded that “towards the conclusion of his remarks, himself and his audience were moved to tears.”15 The locomotive’s bell then tolled. With that, and “a final adieu to Mrs. Lincoln and a few near friends,” the L. M. Wiley pulled the cars out of Springfield.


The “crowd stood silent as the train moved slowly from the depot,” Hay reported in the World. There were only “insignificant” numbers of people at the small railway halts on the first stretch, and even at the first real stop in Decatur perhaps only “several thousand people,” if that, given the small size of its population—less than four thousand.16 A strange lack of public excitement observable, then, on the way to Indianapolis, where the president-elect was to stay overnight at the Bates House hotel.


“Something of the gloom” that had hung over the president-elect prior to his journey had “seemed to rest upon the President during the greater part of the day,” as Hay described for the World. “He was abstracted, sad, thoughtful, and spent much of his time in the private car appropriated to his use,” sitting there “alone and distracted.”17


Villard had interviewed Lincoln repeatedly before the train left. “He did not hesitate to say that the Union ought to, and in his opinion would, be preserved,” Villard later recalled. Moreover, he went into “long arguments in support of the proposition”—yet “could not be got to say what he would do in the face of Southern secession, except that as president he should be sworn to maintain the Constitution of the United States, and that he was therefore bound to fulfil that duty.”18


As to slavery, Mr. Lincoln was clearly no radical. He made it “clear that he did not desire to be considered an ‘abolitionist,’” and “still held the opinion that property in slaves was entitled to protection under the Constitution, and that its owners could not be deprived without due compensation.… I think I interpret his views up to the time of his departure for Washington correctly in saying that he had not lost faith in the preservation of peace between the North and the South, and he certainly did not dream that his principal duty would be to raise great armies and fleets, and the means to maintain them, for the suppression of the most determined and sanguinary rebellion, in defence of slavery,” as Villard later put it, “that our planet ever witnessed.”19


Hardly the stuff, in Villard’s view, of a dynamic new presidency—a dynamism which, as the train trundled on to Washington, Lincoln’s supporters hoped they could happily infuse, once he replaced the hapless James Buchanan, the outgoing fifteenth U.S. president.


19
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A New Nation


PRESIDENT-ELECT JEFFERSON DAVIS’S journey to Montgomery had also begun in gloom on February 11, 1861, that same day.


Everything had happened so fast over recent weeks.


The Mississippi state legislature’s vote to secede from the Union had taken place on January 9, 1861, whereupon Senator Davis, in Washington, had been asked by the Mississippi governor to resign his seat in the U.S. Congress and return home.


This Senator Davis had done, beginning with his formal resignation from the Senate on January 21, 1861. Four days later, however, he’d been appointed the commanding officer of the “Mississippi army” by his state legislature, in the rank now of major general (President James Polk had offered him the lower rank of brigadier general in 1848, but Davis had declined it), thereby releasing him, he thought, from an impossible political position, since he did not favor actual, rather than threatened, secession.1 Nevertheless he’d stood ready to defend his home state, if necessary, as a soldier.


The general had not been thrilled, however, by Mississippi’s military condition. The state’s militia was ill-armed and wholly unprepared to fight for its territory, let alone anyone else’s. Still, fighting was an unlikely eventuality, as Governor John Pettus had assured Davis personally in Jackson on January 28.


Davis was disbelieving at such naïveté, and had attempted to disabuse the innocent governor of it. The state would need at least 75,000 stands of arms, Davis had pointed out to him, to be safe from attack.


“General, you overrate the risk,” Pettus had objected.


“I only wish I did,” Davis had replied, glumly.2


Secession had been a marvelous threat in the halls of Southern legislatures and in Congress—a useful form of political blackmail. In reality, however, if enacted it could only lead to hostilities, as Davis had known.3 The federal government, under President Buchanan’s successor, would hardly be willing to stand by and watch while more and more states willfully ditched their fealty to the Union; mass secession would, if tolerated, be national suicide.


After making preliminary military moves to secure Mississippi’s arsenals and meager fortifications—including federal buildings—and after consulting with his four newly appointed brigadier generals, General Davis had traveled to his plantation, Brierfield, at Hurricane Bend on the Mississippi River south of Vicksburg, arriving on February 1, 1861. At Brierfield he’d awaited further developments.


They had not taken long. On February 4, 1861, a convention of six seceding states of the Deep South—South Carolina, Mississippi, Florida, Alabama, Georgia, and Louisiana (Texas having seceded, too, but was still awaiting gubernatorial signature)—had begun meetings in the majestic Alabama state capitol in Montgomery: a mere forty-two delegates gathering to create a new, independent, slaveholding “Southern nation.”
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Forty-two men changing history, and at reckless yet necessary speed, if the new Southern government was to begin operating before Mr. Lincoln was enthroned.


The four-week “lame duck” window in Washington would also be one in which the current U.S. president, the bachelor James Buchanan, would be unlikely to take firm or punitive federal action before leaving the White House on March 4. Why not, therefore, beat President-elect Lincoln to the punch, secessionist representatives reasoned, by inaugurating their own president preemptively? A chance, surely, to thus face “the Railsplitter,” as he was called, with a done deal: an established new polity, a Southern nation with its own, functioning president.


Thus, inside the capitol building in the small city of Montgomery, Alabama, in a blitz of activity, the forty-two delegates from the six seceding states had drawn up, created, and approved a wholly new country: the Confederate States of America.


Slavishly copying the existing U.S. Constitution, the Confederacy’s new constitution would, this time however, guarantee “the institution of negro slavery” in the South: Article IV specifically stating that “negro slavery, as it now exists in the Confederate States, shall be recognized and protected by Congress and by the Territorial government.” Also, by direct constitutional fiat, fugitive slaves would have to be returned to their owners—though importation of “negroes of the African race from any foreign country,” or even from non-Confederate states, would be “forbidden.” And to cap this, no law in the new nation was ever to be passed “denying or impairing the right of property in negro slaves.” In short, slavery was to be permanent—not only for the enslaved but also for their offspring, and their offspring’s offspring.


Carved out of the Southern states of the old polity, the Confederate States of America would have, like the United States, a president and vice president, to be democratically elected, though for six years, not four. In the meantime, while waiting for the constitution to be ratified by a majority of the constituent CSA states and a formal, popular election to be held, the forty-two delegates would choose six electors, each to stand as representative of their six seceded states. These six electors would appoint a provisional president and vice president.
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It was, in retrospect, madness in the first degree: a gamble, taken with scant thought to the real consequences, and done with breathtaking alacrity by six electors, representing the six seceding states.


Since there was no one at that moment of any proven stature other than hotheads and fanatics to lead the new “nation,” however, the six men had collectively nominated the only Southern individual, as they saw it, with the necessary stature and experience to be provisional Confederate president: a man with proven battle experience and close combat in political infighting in Washington: former U.S. senator Jefferson Davis of Mississippi.


Davis had not, they all knew, favored secession—in fact his wife, Varina, had worn a badge in Washington the previous summer reading “Jeff Davis no seceder!”4 Nor was Davis, though a rich man and an enslaver like so many fellow Southerners, particularly well-liked. People found that he lacked humor, was deeply serious, rigid in his views, and prickly in terms of his pride—especially when criticized, contradicted, or disparaged. In the circumstances, however, particularly if the position of president was to be only provisional, for a year at most—by which time ratification would have been attained, and the new country’s first democratic elections held—it was considered the best the convention delegates and their six electors could do.


“We are directed to inform You,” they’d written to the Mississippi general on the night of February 9, 1861, “that You were this day unanimously elected President of the Provisional Government of the Confederate States of America, and to request you to Come to Montgomery immediately”5—the same urgent summons being sent by messenger to several places, lest Davis not be at home on his plantation at Hurricane Bend on the Mississippi River.


The general was at home at Brierfield, however: still attempting to overcome a bout of ill health and neuralgia that had afflicted him recently. In fact, he was working outside in his plantation rose garden with his winsome young wife, Varina, when the bearer of the telegram arrived there on February 10, after an eighteen-mile ride to deliver it.


Varina later recalled how she’d watched her husband carefully.


Opening the envelope containing the telegram and studying it, “he looked so grieved that I feared some evil had befallen our family. After a few minutes’ painful silence he told me” the news, Varina remembered, “as a man might speak of a sentence of death.”6
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How to say no, though?


How to decline the appointment, after Davis’s recent agreement, only two weeks before, to serve as commanding general of all Mississippi military forces to defend his state? It would seem inconsistent, given the man Davis was: a soldier by training and by character. Nevertheless, the general looked—and was—depressed: almost blind in one eye, and subject still to malarial-fever episodes dating back to the time when he had almost died in 1835—as his first wife did—while on his honeymoon in Louisiana.


Despite his poor health, Davis had felt, in January 1861, that he could handle command of Mississippi’s militia and defense forces, regardless of the paucity of arms—in fact, Varina later recalled how “We both congratulated ourselves that he was to be in the field,” after so many years in Franklin Pierce’s cabinet and the Senate, sitting behind a desk.7


This new summons in February had been different, however: six states, gathering like Scottish clans or medieval houses in rebellion, and calling upon him to be their tribal leader. Was he even up to such a task, irrespective of his health?


As Varina reflected later, “I thought his genius was military”—not political. “He did not know the arts of the politician,” she judged candidly, for all that “Jeff,” as she called him, had worked among politicians of differing ilk in the U.S. House and Senate for so many years. He disliked compromise over principles—including principles of conduct—and took them too seriously, too deeply. Not only did Jeff simply not understand the arts of the politician, Varina added, but “he would not practice them if understood.” Nevertheless, as she noted, if her husband did not know the arts of politics, “he did know those of war.”8
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Reluctantly sending the horse rider back to the telegraph office in Vicksburg with his acknowledgment, the general had packed a few things in a travel bag. The next morning, February 11, 1861, he’d left Varina and their three children at Brierfield by rowboat, oared by some of the enslaved Black people who toiled on his plantation, among them his trusted right-hand man and manager of the plantation, Ben Montgomery, who not only kept a store, but kept the accounts.9


The general sat silently in the prow for three miles. “Jeff Davis was a man you couldn’t tell what was in his mind,” Ben later recalled. “He chatted with us just the same as usual.”10


In the middle of the great river, rounding the bend, they finally saw the steamboat Natchez, which had already made its daily departure from the nearby landing. It was heading for Vicksburg, but Davis knew the captain and hailed it. From the rowboat he was helped aboard.


Jefferson Davis would never see Brierfield again.
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That evening, at the Southern Railroad Depot in Vicksburg, General Davis boarded the train, a Special.


On arrival in Jackson, Mississippi, the general resigned his commission. And it was there that, while waiting for the next onward train, he was asked by Judge William Sharkey, who’d served as Mississippi’s chief justice and was looking for him on the platform, whether “I believed there would be war,” Davis himself later recounted.


War? Davis did not mince words. “My opinion was freely given,” he recalled—namely “that there would be war, long and bloody, and that it behooved every one to put his house in order.”11


Judge Sharkey was stunned.


He “asked how I supposed war could result from the peaceable withdrawal of a sovereign state.”12


Davis could only shake his head.


The judge was known to have supported nullification—the refusal of states to abide by federal laws, even to secede in order to back such a refusal. Nullification, however, was “a doctrine to which I had never assented,” Davis later made clear.13 The decision to disunite en masse and face the consequences had been made by others, though, and the new polity—the Confederate States of America—had been established. The judge’s claim of “peaceable withdrawal” from the USA, moreover, was naïve. How could secession fail to have warlike consequences, given the takeover of all federal military forts and buildings in Mississippi? Seized under the threat of violence—armed insurrection—how could such actions be parsed as “peaceable” by the federal government? Bloodshed “would be” the inevitable consequence, Davis was well aware.14


Not, in the end, because the doctrine of nullification versus federal authority was right or wrong, but because that was how the world worked.


Actions entailed consequences.


In this case, Jefferson Davis was certain, the consequences would indeed be war.
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Spending almost a week traveling by train through the South to get to the “capital,” Montgomery, Alabama, General Davis was under no illusions about himself, or the direness of the situation.


The train route had required a circuitous meander of more than seven hundred miles, since there were no tracks between Meridian, Mississippi, and the new capital, barely two hundred miles to the east. Nor had there been a special car for the president-elect—only a temporary folding cot set up in one of the coaches, on which he could rest between stops, wearing his plain, homespun clothes.


At every halt and station—from Holly Springs to Stevenson and Tuscumbia, Alabama; Chattanooga, Tennessee; onward to Ringgold, Dalton, Adairsville, Cartersville, and Marietta, Georgia; then Atlanta, Fairburn, Palmetto, Newnan, Grantville, LaGrange, and West Point, followed by Opelika and Auburn, doubling back into Alabama—Davis was asked to address groups of fervid, loud, secessionist supporters.


Later, Davis would claim he’d been misquoted in the “brief addresses” he’d given—speeches that were “grossly misrepresented in sensational reports made by irresponsible persons, which were published in the Northern newspapers,” as he would put it. But in truth he’d known full well how, as the Confederacy’s new leader-to-be, he’d been expected to respond to “calls from the crowds assembled at such points.”15


Not disingenuously, then, but with somewhat forced enthusiasm, the president-elect had answered the fervor gripping white secessionists and enslavers, assuring them there would be no going back on disunion from the North—“we have separated from them, and separated forever,” had been his mantra.16 Refusing, though, to follow the script of Judge Sharkey or Mississippi governor John Pettus—everywhere making clear his own view that, in all probability, the South would now have to fight for its survival and independence. And must immediately prepare for that eventuality.


Could the South win such a struggle, though, in the manner in which, say, George Washington had ultimately defeated the British?


Davis believed strongly in states’ rights, and had been one of six Southern senators who’d accompanied the body of Senator Calhoun—apostle of secession—to his grave in 1850. In truth, though, he’d always opposed the doctrine of nullification, ever since it was attempted by South Carolina in 1832, when he’d been a young U.S. infantry officer. In the years afterward he’d held to his conviction that the threat of secession was a more powerful political weapon in defending Southern interests—primarily slavery—than an ill-judged disbandment of the Union. Establishing a U.S. Department of the Interior would, he’d argued, protect Southern interests more than it might weaken them, for example. Thus, year after year he’d argued with his colleagues for the use of political influence within the polity of the United States, not outside it.


As the Northern states expanded in population and economy, the disparity between them and the Southern states had become greater, however, adding to Southern fears of minority status. Yet this very disparity had reduced still further the chance of getting away with secession (the constitutional right of all states, Calhoun had argued) if it were attempted. Secession, if enacted, would bring only war, Davis feared: one that would be tough to win.


Once the fateful—probably fatal—decision had been made, however, Jefferson Davis had accepted it reluctantly as a fait accompli. Others might convince themselves they could get away with it without consequences, as had seemed possible under Buchanan, but the general knew that the new “nation” of the South would have to be defended and fought for—and the general determined, as a soldier, to do his best, however doomed the outcome.


Privately, therefore, Davis doubted whether the South could do more than play for time, not only in terms of survival in a war, but even in the matter of slavery. As he’d confided to Varina, he thought secession would be followed by war, as night followed day—for the new U.S. administration, once Mr. Lincoln was in Washington, could not simply stand back and watch a third of the nation abscond. And slavery itself would not outlast such a disaster. “In any case,” as Jeff had confided to Varina, “I think our slave property will be eventually lost.”17


Defending slavery, in other words, was probably a losing battle. Defending the rights of Southern states to form a new compact, a new and independent confederation of states, however, was not, of necessity, a losing military proposition—at least, not if the North was poorly led, and the Deep South could hold out as a sovereign new nation with its own defense forces: forces which, as Confederate commander in chief as well as president—like his imminent opposite number in Washington—he would soon command.


In which case, time would tell who would win.
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Mr. Lincoln’s Satchel


ABRAHAM LINCOLN was as anxious as his new Southern adversary to avoid the knotty subject of slavery—and equally intent that the word should be kept out of his forthcoming inaugural speech, for he did not believe that a war over freedom for Black people, in a nation so predominantly (83.5 percent) white, could be won.1


Drafts of Mr. Lincoln’s inaugural address had long since been crafted—in fact, it had already been through four iterations since November. The president-elect had arranged for the fourth version to be privately printed in a dozen copies; these he intended to show, in confidence, to his prospective cabinet and others before he gave the address. His own annotated copy of the draft he kept in his personal valise—a satchel he locked, given that its contents, if leaked ahead of his inauguration, could easily be used to sow untold mischief.


Small wonder, then, that he’d become apoplectic when he realized it was lost, already on Day One of his journey to Washington.
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Mr. Lincoln’s 1,904-mile whistle-stop train trip was originally designed to be like a political campaign, studded with personal appearances, speeches, interviews, and other opportunities to become better known by the public in the Northern states.


At Indianapolis on Day One, though, the president-elect’s staff of secretaries, assistants, bodyguards, and voluntary military personnel had been made anxious by the growing press of the huge crowds—the local police unable to control the mob: impatient, raucous people demanding the president-elect give some indication of what he would declare in his inaugural speech on March 4. Namely: war or no war?


The president-elect was adamant that he would keep his powder dry on that score, however. Facing the crush of people in Indianapolis, he’d therefore handed his satchel, containing the draft of his forthcoming speech, to his eldest son, Robert, for safekeeping.


The entrustment had been intended as a sign of fatherly confidence in the well-meaning teenager. At first Abraham had thought, therefore, that Robert must be joking when, in answer to his father as to the whereabouts of the precious valise, the teenager had said he had no idea—he’d simply given it to the desk clerk at Indianapolis’s Bates Hotel in order to be able to go out with some friends he’d just made.


“A look of stupefaction” had passed over the president-elect’s face when he realized that Robert was telling him the truth, not larking, according to Ward Hill Lamon, who acted as Lincoln’s personal bodyguard on the thirteen-day journey.2 If the draft was leaked, it would surely be in every newspaper the next day—inciting immediate bedlam, given the forthright, unedited clarity of its language.


Afterward, looking back on the episode, Abraham Lincoln had been able to laugh at himself, and the whole business. At the time, however, he’d been close to his namesake in the Bible: ready to kill his firstborn, at least metaphorically. “I had never seen Mr. Lincoln so much annoyed, so much perplexed, and for the time so angry,” Lamon later recalled. “He seldom manifested a spirit of anger toward his children—this was the nearest approach to it I had ever witnessed. He and I started in search of the satchel. We went first to the hotel office, where we were informed that if an employee of the hotel had taken charge of it, it would be found in the baggage-room. On going there, we found a great pile of all kinds of baggage in promiscuous confusion. Mr. Lincoln’s keen eye soon discovered a satchel which he thought his own; taking it in his hand eagerly he tried his key.” To their great relief “it fitted the lock—the bag opened.”3


To their dual mortification, however, the satchel was found to contain “nothing but a soiled shirt, several paper collars, a pack of cards, and a bottle of whiskey nearly full.”4
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To be sure, the satchel story was improved and embellished later. That the loss had indeed taken place, however, was indisputable.


John Hay, Mr. Lincoln’s young new assistant private secretary, certainly recalled the scene: how, without a word, the angry president-elect “opened the door of his room, forced his way through the crowded corridor down to the office, where, with a single stride of his long legs,” the six-foot, four-inch president-elect “swung himself across the clerk’s counter, behind which a small mountain of carpetbags of all colors had accumulated”—each one of which had then been checked before the president-elect had found the locked oilcloth carpetbag, containing its soon-to-be historic contents.5


Robert Lincoln was much chastened. Though dubbed the “Prince of Rails” by the press, he was never allowed to touch the satchel again.


Meanwhile, according to Ward Lamon, after cooling down and recovering from his panic, Mr. Lincoln told Lamon a story about a church elder at a summer camp, who’d become similarly distraught—not at having lost his satchel, however, but his wife! The difference, in that case, was that the elder really had no real cause to be vexed, Mr. Lincoln pointed out, since a wife was “sure to pop up serenely somewhere.”6 The loss of such an important document, by contrast, would leave many a husband quite bereft.


Did Lamon laugh at the sexist comparison? Not content with this anecdote, Mr. Lincoln had gone on to tell Lamon of a man who’d lost his entire fortune in deposits he’d made in successive banks—all of which, in turn, had failed. This had left him finally with only fifteen dollars in settlement. “When the fifteen dollars was paid over to him,” Mr. Lincoln related, “he held it in his hand and looked at it thoughtfully; then he said, ‘Now, darn you, I have got you reduced to a portable shape, so I’ll put you in my pocket.’”7


In the same way, Mr. Lincoln had taken his “Address from the bag and carefully placed it in the inside pocket of his vest—but held on to the satchel.”8
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Thorns in Montgomery


JEFFERSON DAVIS WAS THE FIRST to arrive at his inaugural destination, Montgomery, Alabama, on February 16, 1861. There he was feted by fireworks, guns, and cannons firing salvos: Southern crowds welcoming the man who, it was hoped, would now lead the nascent Confederacy in its quest for immediate and sovereign independence. Given the electors’ desire to beat Mr. Lincoln to the lectern, Jefferson Davis was given less than forty-eight hours, however, to compose and print up his formal address, which would be delivered on the steps of the Alabama State House on February 18—two weeks before Mr. Lincoln’s impending inauguration and address.


Throwing himself into the task, the president-elect did his best. Lacking, however, the wit and humor of his opponent—reports of which Davis had read every day on his journey—Davis was aware his challenge would be to come up with an address satisfying to both the baying hounds of secession and those who would have to fight for it on the field of battle—a field he knew all too well. Tone would therefore be the key, he felt, anxious as to whether he’d be able to rise to the historic occasion and impress the assembled ladies and gentlemen as a statesman, not simply a soldier. Without his wife, moreover, who would not come to Montgomery until later, with their children.


Varina, though young—in her early thirties still—had known that the matter of rhetoric would be her husband’s biggest problem, and had always tried to help him with composition and dictation. She was smart, educated, and well-read. She possessed, too, a skeptical ear for insincerity. This time, however, he would have to do without her critical faculties.


Escorted by Howell Cobb, president of the nominating convention, General Jefferson Davis walked from the State House to a special platform erected by the front portico of the building.


Imitating the anointment of U.S. presidents in Washington, the ceremony was not to begin with an oath taken on the Bible, but with the president-elect’s peroration—the vows thus following the promises. It was thus as provisional president-elect, still, that General Davis began to speak at 1:00 p.m. on Monday, February 18, 1861, in Montgomery.


Former U.S. congressman William Yancey, addressing the crowd that had greeted the president-elect on his arrival in Montgomery on February 16, had welcomed him with the words, “the man and the hour have met”: Davis the “statesman, the soldier, and the patriot” they needed.1


Was the general effective enough in those three roles to cement the new nation? people wondered.


Davis “was regarded by nearly the whole South as the fittest man for the position. I certainly so regarded him,” former U.S. senator for South Carolina James Chesnut would later say.2 But Howell Cobb, who was to administer the oath of presidential office, had personal concerns about Davis’s commitment to secession—and was not alone in this. About Davis’s lack of charisma, too, in a South that had grown used to rhetorical firebrands like former congressman and U.S. Senator Robert B. Rhett of South Carolina—a man who’d coveted the presidential appointment himself.


Standing tall and dignified before the several thousand onlookers, President-elect Jefferson Davis, nevertheless, was unintimidated. He had a good tenor voice, and spoke with sincerity and seriousness. He lacked magnetism, however—and because of this, the speech would probably not fully convince those fellow Southerners who disliked him, or found him haughty, or lacking in aggressive rather than defensive spirit. Many of them already worried that they hadn’t, in their haste, “elected” the right man.


Jefferson Davis was certainly “agreeable,” Howell Cobb’s brother wrote his wife, “but he is not great, in any sense of the term.” What Davis possessed, however, was a kind of martial determination: “the power of will,” Thomas Cobb allowed. This, Cobb asserted, the new president “has.” A power of will which, alone, had “made him all he is.”3 It might not, in the circumstances, be enough.


The new president’s delivery, all agreed, was less than stirring.


The address certainly made a stern, lucid case for the South’s position: an extended, rhetorical justification of its right to be taken seriously, not only at home, but abroad. For example, claiming the Confederacy to be a “revolution,” the new president cautioned, was an “abuse of language,” for, as a lifelong conservative, he wished to change nothing in the South—at least, not under pressure from Northern know-it-alls.4


The “Declaration of Independence of 1776” rather than the U.S. Constitution, Davis stated, was the model upon which the new organization of Confederate States would be based—his comparison of its quest for independence from a tyrannical power, such as from Britain in earlier, colonial times, surely designed to persuade Northern audiences as much as to inspire Southern ones. Such a new Declaration would doubtless incur the same response that the original American colonies had faced in 1776, he accepted—Britain having been loath to accept the rights of its colonies to secede. The Confederacy which he, Jefferson Davis, was about to lead wished only for peace, he emphasized—if without much conviction that his wish would be permitted by the U.S. government. But “if we may not hope to avoid war” with the Northern states, he argued, “we may at least expect that posterity will acquit us of having needlessly engaged it.”5 For the South, unlike the North, had no hostile intentions. It would attack no one in the North.


Should the Northern states seek to invade the South, in contrast to the South’s pacific designs, however, they would get a rude awakening, he warned. “If,” he declared, “passion or lust of domination should cloud the judgment or inflame the ambition of those States, we must prepare to meet the emergency and to maintain, by the final arbitrament of the sword, the position which we have assumed among the nations of the earth.”6
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“The arbitrament of the sword.” It was an ominous, telling phrase.


The very real likelihood of war, President-elect Davis warned in his Montgomery address, would require immediate and efficient preparations, in any event, by the South. There would be a need to address “foreign intercourse”—diplomacy and trade—as well as “finance” and the “postal service.” But “military affairs” would be his top priority, Davis made clear—based on his conviction that the Confederacy, to survive, would need to do more than rely on its individual state militias. To survive, the Confederacy would need an army.7


In fact, as Davis declared in his speech, the Confederacy would need a “well-instructed and disciplined army.”8 And navy. Would need also a commander to have ultimate, overall command of these forces, irrespective of states’ rights—namely himself in his new role as president and commander in chief of the Confederate States of America, for which purpose he had reluctantly but loyally “accepted” his provisional commission.


“You will see many errors to forgive,” the president allowed, as well as “many deficiencies to tolerate, but you shall not find in me either a want of zeal or fidelity to the cause that is to me highest in hope and of most enduring affection. Your generosity has bestowed upon me an undeserved distinction, one I neither sought nor desired,” he claimed, truthfully.9 Nevertheless, he promised at least to do his utmost—aware that he, perhaps better than any man alive in the South, knew what was coming.


If the North did not back down and grant at least self-government to the Confederacy, “if this be denied to us, and the integrity of our territory and jurisdiction be assailed, it will but remain for us, with firm resolve, to appeal to arms and invoke the Blessings of Providence on a just cause.”10


In other words: the Confederacy would wage war.


As Confederate president, Davis assured his listeners—and the press—he’d make every effort to parley with Northern states for peace. Peace, though, only acceptable on behalf of a new, separate, independent nation, not a return to the subordinated status quo ante.
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Davis was able to write to his wife only several days later—his executive building having been stormed by people all day long wanting jobs in the new administration.


The audience at his inauguration had been “large and brilliant” in his description: the women, for their part, beautifully attired. “Upon my weary heart was showered,” he mocked himself, “smiles plaudits and flowers.” He was under no illusions, however. “Beyond them I saw troubles and thorns innumerable,” he admitted. “We are without machinery without means and threatened by powerful opposition,” he confided—assuring Varina, though, that he did not “despond and will not shrink from the task imposed upon me.”


Varina, who knew and loved him best, in all his prickly pride, stubbornness, and rigidity, knew the mountains he would have to climb.


Attempting, though, to be positive, Jeff had added she would like Montgomery for its very unpretentiousness: “a gay and handsome town of some 8000 inhabitants,” and one that “will be not an unpleasant residence,” he was certain—once he had time to look for a house for her and the family to live in.


“God bless you my dear wife. Kiss the children for me and remember that I am always with you in spirit and so will be while life lasts. Affectionately your husband.”11
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In Maschera


IN NEW YORK, meanwhile, the crowds welcoming the new U.S. president-elect were growing—in fact, were perhaps forty times the number who’d apparently applauded Jefferson Davis at his coronation, according to newspaper reports: a sign of growing popular interest in Mr. Lincoln, the seemingly simple, backwoods figure they’d elected.


Like Jefferson Davis, Abraham Lincoln had traveled a circuitous route to get to his destination: his train puffing its way north, south, north, and then south again, from Indianapolis to Cincinnati on the Ohio River, then Columbus, Ohio, followed by Pittsburgh, Cleveland, Buffalo, Rochester, Syracuse, Utica, and then—on the day of Davis’s inauguration—Albany, New York, where John Wilkes Booth, a wild Shakespearean actor with strong sympathies for the South, was playing the role of Pescara, a Spaniard, in Richard Shiel’s The Apostate.


Booth liked demonic roles, for he was an actor who relished portraying violent emotions on the stage. Cast as a hater of Islam, his latest character’s job in The Apostate was to kill Muslims on the Albany stage, which Booth did with great ardor—in fact, a week earlier Booth had actually drawn blood with his sword, and then accidentally stabbed himself in the chest, between the ribs. Not in the heart, however, as many would later lament; he’d simply continued his swashbuckling role, blood apparently oozing from the wound.1
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In retrospect, John Wilkes Booth’s Albany performance, on the very night when President-elect Lincoln was in town on his journey to his coronation, would have a tragic irony.


Of further irony, however, would be the fact that Mr. Lincoln thereupon also found himself in a theater. In Lincoln’s case, however, it was the New York Academy of Music in New York City on February 20, 1861.


Already feted before swelling crowds as “Honest Abe” the “Railsplitter” from Illinois, Mr. Lincoln had simply wanted to hear some music and be a member of the audience, not the star, that night. For he’d realized from the increasingly tumultuous multitudes wherever he traveled or spoke on his train journey that now he was himself onstage, a national stage. An awareness that caused him to acknowledge, with a mixture of surprise and pride, that he’d become a species of “public property” for good and ill—accessible to all and anyone, anywhere.2 Tens of thousands of individuals who were anxious to shake his hand, if they could.


At the luxurious Astor House hotel, on the corner of Broadway and Vesey Street in Lower Manhattan, Lincoln had already met with veterans of the War of 1812 and many other well-wishers—or wishers at his well. He’d even been invited by P. T. Barnum to visit the circus owner’s new American Museum on the corner of Ann Street and Broadway—though he’d politely declined.3 For, as the president-elect explained, he had something else on his schedule, a musical engagement that promised to take his mind off politicking and speechifying completely.
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Un Ballo in Maschera (“A Masked Ball”) by the Italian composer Giuseppe Verdi was, in retrospect, an unfortunate choice of opera for the president-elect: a musical drama that ended, onstage, with the assassination of the American protagonist.


Verdi’s new music, however, was reputed to be sublime. Though Mr. Lincoln arrived at the theater, on 14th Street, near Manhattan’s Union Square, late and in darkness, thus missing some of the first act, he was content to be entertained, no longer required to shake any more hands, for a few hours at least.


The audience was content, too—though gossip about the president-elect’s possible appearance had raised expectations among fashionably dressed New York music lovers. “There was but little apparent excitement,” one gossip-column reporter acknowledged of the polite, well-behaved audience, “but countless fair heads were turned to the right and to the left, as though undecided in which quarter the expected apparition would appear.” With no sign of the president-elect, however, the audience had then “settled down to listen to the music. Brignoli sang most charmingly, and Miss Hinkley warbled her Arietta like a bird. We were silently enjoying all this, when a buzz and burr aroused us, and turning to the left, we beheld one thousand double-barreled opera glasses all turned in one direction to the right. We followed the stream of glances, and saw the largest amount of President the country has yet afforded.… We think we saw seven feet of President—at least calculating from the knees upwards.”4


As the curtain fell at the end of Act One, “there were shouts of ‘Lincoln! Lincoln!’”5


The curtain rose yet again. This time the entire cast stepped forward to lead the audience in singing the national anthem, “The Star Spangled Banner”—while above their heads, seemingly ex machina, the great flag of the Stars and Stripes, with thirty-three stars in its canton, unfurled.


Patriotism—support for the Union of the United States of America and its elected leader-to-be—was apparently not a problem in New York City. At least, not among opera lovers.


What was less clear was why the president-elect slipped out of the theater after the second act.
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Was the president-elect’s exit caused by sheer exhaustion? some wondered.


To be sure, Mr. Lincoln had been traveling and feted by hundreds of thousands of people over long, demanding days since leaving Springfield. Or was it because Mr. Lincoln knew—or could guess—the bloody outcome of the opera’s story: the true tale of a political conspiracy that had culminated in the assassination of King Gustav III of Sweden in the 1790s.


Whatever the reason, in not staying to witness—and hear—the concluding spectacle in the third act, and retreating instead to the Astor House hotel—his wife, Mary, having caught up with him at Indianapolis, with their other children—the president-elect was undoubtedly being wise. His huge head might be full of Verdi’s tunes, but the opera’s plot was disturbing.


Owing to censorship problems in often fiercely anti-monarchical, revolutionary Europe, the part of King Gustav, the powerful Swedish monarch, had had to be revised by Verdi and his producers, and transposed into a political leader on a faraway continent: America. The ill-fated King Gustav had therefore been reimagined as “Ricardo, Governor of Boston”—the city outside of which the American Revolution had begun.


On the grand stage of the New York Academy of Music the American president-elect had thus been faced by a fictional American drama based on a true story: that of a political leader’s assassination. In the context of a country facing possible mass insurrection and violence—with many calls for Mr. Lincoln’s head in the South, where in New Orleans some $40,000 had been offered for his murder—the parallel was uncomfortable.6


Unknown to the audience, in fact, Mr. Lincoln had especial reason to be concerned about possible assassination. For he’d been warned of serious plans to assassinate him in Baltimore, Maryland, a slaveholding state, before he could reach Washington, the capital.






[image: image]








Abraham Lincoln’s only military training or experience had been as a military scout in the Black Hawk War. He’d been elected captain for a few weeks by his fellow volunteers, but had seen no combat, and had then served another twenty days as a mounted volunteer scout—ending ignominiously when his horse was stolen.7


Famously modest, indeed self-deprecating, Mr. Lincoln entertained no delusions of personal military merit. Once, earlier, when campaigning for Zachary Taylor to be president, he’d ridiculed himself as a “military hero”—telling his audience how, in the manner of Don Quixote, he’d volunteered for military service but had conducted fierce charges only against vicious “wild onions.” He’d also suffered “a good many bloody struggles with the mosquitoes.” But he had not, unfortunately, seen “any live, fighting Indians.”8


Mr. Lincoln’s humor, as well as his penchant for storytelling, tickled many of his listeners. Would the president-elect be tough enough, though—military-minded enough—to deal with the secessionist fever currently sweeping the fast-arming, fractious, and rebellious South, once he donned the mantle of U.S. president and commander in chief? Or soldier stern enough to meet General Davis, the new Confederate commander in chief, in battle, should war become inevitable?


The threat of mass violence was in the air—with many antagonistic voters, North as well as South, feeling that Mr. Lincoln was a usurper—for he hadn’t, after all, been elected by a majority of American voters in November 1860, only by a plurality—indeed, he’d come first in the electoral contest only because the opposing Democratic Party had split into two factions, headed by two Democratic candidates, John Breckinridge and Stephen Douglas. However constitutionally correct the result may have been, such voters simply could not bring themselves to accept the result.


Taking the Cortlandt Street ferry the next day following his visit to the opera, Mr. Lincoln—no stranger to river navigation all his life, having twice journeyed down the Mississippi to New Orleans by flatboat from Indiana—had, in any event, proceeded to Trenton, New Jersey, a city with powerful memories of an earlier historic contest.9


Speaking before the New Jersey General Assembly, Abraham recalled how, as a child, growing up poor in a log cabin, he’d read M. L. Weems’s Life of Washington with its indelible account of “the battlefields and struggles for the liberties of the country”—wartime struggles that had encapsulated the aims and burgeoning ideals of “this Union, the Constitution, and the liberties of the people.” Addressing his audience without notes, he’d emphasized that, once inaugurated, he would “do all that may be in my power to promote a peaceful settlement of all our difficulties.” “The man does not live who is more devoted to peace than I am,” he claimed—anxious not to say anything that might further inflame agitators on either side.10


Was the president-elect being coy, or did he have a plan, like his now-inaugurated opponent in Montgomery, President Davis? If peace proved impossible to preserve, would its converse be the nation’s fate, as Davis had warned in his inaugural speech?


Across the country millions were wondering about this—with newspaper sales soaring, and multiple editions per day being printed.
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Civil war was not unthinkable, certainly: the United States was a country born in civil war, after all. Had it not been created out of rebellion? Had it not arisen in secession, as Americans fought against fellow Americans—“Loyalists,” supporting their monarch, King George III, and his armed colonial forces?


Many other armed conflicts had shaped the young nation, too: the Whiskey Rebellion between 1791 and 1794; the War of 1812; the Mexican War of 1846–48; wars against indigenous Americans, too, such as the Black Hawk War, which were arguably also civil wars, or wars between inhabitants. Even, in a way, the great Louisiana Purchase, which—doubling the size of the country—had been negotiated under the shadow of war involving France. War, war, war!


Bit by bit, the United States had extended its boundaries to reach the Pacific to the west; Canada to the north; the Gulf of Mexico to the south—railways binding together the constituent states and territories, too, in an ever-expanding network of commerce, industry, and popular migration. Given the skyrocketing value of cotton as a commodity on the world market, however, opposition had only grown to enfranchising the four million enslaved Black people in the United States—from servants to the laborers who produced and picked the cotton—in counter-voice to antislavery fanatics: an abolitionist political pressure that stirred moral passions as perhaps no other economic and social inequity in the nation.11


With the United States more and more polarized over slavery—indeed, both its continued existence and its possible extension into new territories—feelings on both sides of the argument had risen to hysterical, even homicidal levels.


In the North, there was widespread fury over the mandatory return of “fugitive slaves” to their “owners,” going back to the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850, which had been followed by the Supreme Court’s Dred Scott decision of 1857, denying citizenship (present or future) to any Black person, whether enslaved or free. More and more violent “incidents” had been provoked by the Court’s legal folly, resulting in John Brown’s inflammatory raid on Harpers Ferry, in western Virginia, in 1859.


Secession had thus become the go-to solution in Southern minds—South Carolina taking the first step in seceding from the Union barely six weeks after the 1860 election, before the winner could even be inaugurated. Thanks to lame-duck president Buchanan’s refusal to immediately use federal force to disarm seceding state militias and stop them from seizing federal installations or buying weapons, six other states—which had initially waited to see the consequences of secession—had then followed suit, with total impunity.


What hope was there, then, that President-elect Lincoln, in the aftermath of such pusillanimity, could now reverse secession without war?


Yet even if peaceful reconciliation was unlikely, might there not be at least a standoff, Mr. Lincoln suggested in his speeches—a kind of cooling-off period, during which saner heads might prevail, and perhaps persuade secessionists to rethink whether civil war was truly what they wanted, or were willing to risk? And if so, was it better to be conciliatory, rather than threaten force? To offer an olive branch, rather than seek the “arbitrament of the sword”?


Appeasement, then, rather than preparation for war.
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Conciliation, of course, was becoming less and less realistic, in view of President Buchanan’s spineless, dawdling timidity: his cowardly refusal to act resolutely. Even Jefferson Davis, who’d long considered Mr. Buchanan to be a friend of the South, had become critical of Buchanan’s so-called leadership, which had left no one clear as to the federal government’s position.


Northerners, for their part, were indignant.


“He seems to me the basest specimen of the human race ever raised on this continent,” as the diarist George Templeton Strong, a New York Republican attorney, described Buchanan in disgust in his private journal.12 The fifteenth president had failed utterly, Strong lamented, to reinforce government garrisons, let alone successfully repossess “stolen” federal forts situated in the South. Or do anything contentious that might further inflame passions in the “Cotton States,” whose treasonable actions, not just words, had thus continued in a vacuum, to the despair of most patriots.


Thanks largely to Buchanan’s cravenness, the U.S. Army’s active list numbered barely fourteen hundred enlisted men in total—if that. This left the federal government with limited ability to put down a major insurrection unless augmented by emergency presidential proclamation—which never came.


The small number of federal troops that did exist, moreover, were dispersed across the entire nation, and in small units, mostly occupying frontier outposts. President Buchanan had declined to move or assemble any of them, anywhere—let alone seek congressional authority and finance to increase their number. Nothing, but nothing, should be done to exacerbate the situation, Mr. Buchanan, the conciliator, had insisted.


By contrast, the Confederates were busy “organizing,” George Strong noted, and would soon count upon many times the number of extant U.S. forces, while the U.S. government did… what?13
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Behind the scenes, of course, Abraham Lincoln had known in the depths of his being how hopeless were the prospects of peace.


Before departing Springfield, the president-elect had already told Joseph Gillespie, a friend, that it was probably too late: war was “inevitable,” he’d confided. “I only wish I could have got there [to Washington] to lock the door before the horse was stolen.”14


Before Mr. Lincoln even reached New York, the barn itself was burning: Jefferson Davis had already been inaugurated as president in Montgomery the day before—and Abraham was still not United States president and commander in chief; in fact, another two weeks had to pass before he would become so, on March 4. What would be left of the once-United States of America, let alone of “peace,” by then?


“It may be necessary to put the foot down firmly,” Mr. Lincoln stated almost sotto voce before entraining in Trenton for his next major stop, Philadelphia.15 Lacking presidential power, however, he could only make things worse by making ill-chosen remarks that would swiftly be printed in the South, and impel the remaining, tottering, “Upper South” slaveholding states to throw in their lot with the Confederacy in protest against threatened Northern “aggression.” “I have kept silence,” he’d apologized in New York, “until the time came when, according to the customs of this country, I should speak officially.”16


The president-elect had thus bitten his lip, and chosen for the most part to hold his peace, rather than give up on peace. He was especially determined—perhaps too determined—to remain rational, calm, and civil when he reached Philadelphia—the font of American democracy. The city, after all, had great symbolic value for the nation. It was where the historic Continental Congresses had taken place, following the surrender and evacuation of the British forces from what had been British America. It was there that representatives of the thirteen triumphant states, amid passionate but mostly peaceful argument, had sought to hammer out and accept a U.S. Constitution which, when unanimously agreed upon by the attending, constituent participants, and ratified by their states, would bind the new nation—even if it proved impossible to outlaw slavery by federal fiat, given Southern slaveholders’ greed, power, privilege, and racial arrogance, fanned and authorized by the British during their long colonial suzerainty.


The problem of slavery, like Original Sin, had thus been left unresolved by the U.S. federal government from the start—or left, rather, to individual states. It had not even proven possible to stop slavery from tarnishing the nation’s chosen new capital, Washington, D.C., as a legal if “peculiar institution”—the term Senator John C. Calhoun had approvingly given it, much to the amazement of diplomats and visitors from slave-free Europe. It was nevertheless important, President-elect Lincoln felt, to be positive: to remind people of the merits and history of the Union—an improbable, riven nation yet still surviving. Imperfect, to be sure, but a Union surely worth preserving, in spite of all the varieties of opinion expressed in such a unique and still relatively young democratic experiment among the nations of the world.


With matters spinning out of presidential control in the “lame duck” Buchanan administration, however, there were many men and women—too many—who had simply tired of further debate. Men and women done with talk; men and women who entertained ideas of action, whether those in the South on behalf of the independence movement or those in the North wishing to kill the secession-child at birth.


Thus, after a rapturous reception by large crowds of Philadelphians estimated at 100,000 people, Mr. Lincoln, speaking in Independence Hall, sounded almost fatalistic as he valiantly protested against the tide of violence, claiming there was “no need of bloodshed and war”—there was “no necessity for it.” If, nevertheless, war should come, it would not be of his making, he declared. “There will be no blood shed unless it be forced upon the Government. The Government will not use force unless force be used against it.”17


Clearly Mr. Lincoln was hoping—almost desperately—to hold the moral high ground. Whether hope alone would be enough to save the Union of the United States, however, was debatable, given that President Davis had called for a Confederate Army in his inaugural address—and was doubtless already translating words into action.
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Siege


FORCE BE USED AGAINST IT”?


In the new Confederate capital in Montgomery, President Jefferson Davis made clear that the new Confederate “army” he was attempting to assemble was not going to march north, however, as some were urging. Firebrands like Senator Louis Wigfall of Texas might goad him to try to intimidate outgoing President Buchanan into granting Southern independence—but Wigfall was a well-known clown, and voters’ ratification of his state of Texas’s secession had not even taken place.


As president of the Confederacy, Davis thus had no intention of using force against the rump United States. His task, as he saw it, was simply to marshal the South to defend its borders.


Fort Sumter, in the waters off Charleston, South Carolina, was in this respect a problem. There was naturally great popular clamor in South Carolina—first of the Southern states to secede—to seize the federally owned and garrisoned fortress: a thorn in the Confederate side, set on a speck of land, or sand, in the midst of the city’s magnificent harbor. The fort was occupied by only eighty federal troops, as reliably reported to the state and city authorities—though this number did not account for soldiers’ wives, consorts, and day laborers, who were also on the island.


Tiny though the Sumter garrison might be, the hexagonal brick fortress boasted sixty big cannons poking out of its fifty-foot-high walls. Its moat comprised a wide estuary, with no land closer than a mile away, as Davis was aware from his time as U.S. secretary of war. A preemptive attack on the fortress by untrained South Carolina militia forces might lead to a riposte that would energize the U.S. government, not cause it to retreat. Watching from the sidelines while preparing to hold state conventions on possible secession, the still-hesitating states of the Upper South like Virginia would inevitably be unimpressed by a premature Confederate fiasco at Charleston. It would only invite ridicule, Davis reckoned.


There was, however, a secret, deeper reason to be cautious yet resolute in wanting possession of federal Fort Sumter: the military importance that a Union fort at Charleston would possess for the Confederate defense strategy that Jefferson Davis had been mulling since resigning as a U.S. senator and leaving Washington in late January—in fact even before that, when he had merely been considering the consequences of a Southern exodus from the Union.


Creating, from virtually nothing, a Confederate Army capable of undertaking grand campaigns of interior defense would take time, Davis knew, as well as money and the agreement of the Confederacy’s six, soon-to-be seven governors, a fact that he accepted. Smaller, more specific tactical ventures to help steel a defensive chain around the new nation might well be undertaken, though—especially if they could simultaneously be used to help rouse a spirit of loyalty and patriotism in the new republic. All the while, however, Davis would be pursuing in secret a cleverer, subtler, longer-term agenda—beginning at Fort Sumter.


An example Davis knew well was that of Captain Napoleon Bonaparte, a young artillery officer, who had more or less taken charge of the Siege of Toulon in 1793, winning a fierce battle for the Mediterranean port and helping assure the new republic that it could—and would—defeat the Royalists and their foreign allies. Thanks to Bonaparte’s possession of its great harbor, the patient, successful investment, bombardment, and battle for Toulon had duly made France’s Mediterranean coast secure against all subsequent attempts at invasion to crush the anti-monarchist rebellion.


Toulon was thus an interesting model, Davis reflected. The capture of the centerpiece of its French fort system had cemented the southern border of the new republic. The young Corsican artillery captain had been only twenty-three at the time, a trained officer. Moreover, he’d had 32,000 soldiers of the National Convention at hand. Yet it had nevertheless taken him almost four months before he’d felt ready to launch his assault on the “Little Gibraltar,” as he called it: the fortifications that French Royalists and their British allies had thrown up. By contrast, the Confederate Army currently had only a few thousand militia volunteers to seize Fort Sumter if it resisted capture.


The Napoleonic model was daunting, in short. There was “enough in my situation,” the president wrote candidly to the governor of South Carolina, Francis Pickens, two days after his inauguration in Montgomery, “to discourage one more confident than myself.”1 As president he was creating six departments to run the new country—State, Treasury, War, Navy, Justice, and a Post Office—but the truth was: the six cabinet officials were selected primarily to secure the support of the six constituent states. The appointees were at best mediocre; at worst, useless or conniving.2


Governor Pickens had already been warned by President Davis, speaking as a soldier, that seizing Fort Sumter would be a tricky, long-term business; Pickens should not, he instructed, allow fanatics to preempt a more thoughtful Confederate approach. Dutifully, Governor Pickens had therefore asked the president to send a professional, trained soldier—“an Engineer of Military skill”—to “examine and report on the condition of Charleston harbour, and its works of defence and offence,” as Davis, agreeing to dispatch such an officer, described the inspector’s task.


As the Confederacy’s new commander in chief, he wasn’t rushing to attack the North, Davis reminded the governor—and he did not want Pickens to jump the gun, despite ever-rising popular clamor in South Carolina to seize Sumter. “I am prepared for the criticism which the rash often bestow upon necessary caution,” Davis confided as a distinguished soldier. In fact, he wrote, “I will be more than content to have the censure which in the meantime may be encountered.” What the new president wanted was a more careful, considered assault—one that would be successful once launched, “and the blood of the brave be thus saved.”3


“We are poorly prepared for war,” Davis confided to Pickens. All the Confederacy had, as yet, was the “valor” of its youth and “the justice of our cause”—namely sovereign independence—“to meet the issue of unequal conflict.” Nonetheless, as he put it, “we must seek to render the inequality as small as it can be made” by undertaking only what would work, and what would contribute to an overall strategy.4


This was, in truth, neither Napoleonic nor very inspiring. But then, Jefferson Davis was, he knew himself, no Bonaparte, nor particularly inspiring. Rather, he was a fifty-two-year-old former soldier, who stood and rode ramrod straight, and had a wholly different conception of the task ahead than the firebrands by whom he was surrounded.


Had the blood or youth of le petit caporal run in the recent general’s veins, he might well have authorized—even taken command of—an immediate Confederate assault on Fort Sumter, which South Carolina’s Governor Pickens had initially pressed him to do. And yes, on his journey to Montgomery he’d spoken to excited crowds of “taking the war to the North.” But in reality, as would become evident in the following months, he had not meant farther north than the still-wavering slaveholding states of the Upper South, if they were attacked. He was not into aggression. Rather, he favored a strategy of patient defense—defense which, after all, had ultimately clipped Napoleon’s wings when practiced by the Russians.


Southern politicians like Robert Rhett, Robert Toombs, and Louis Wigfall, who called for an aggressive, swashbuckling Confederate military policy to frighten the federal U.S. government into granting Southern independence under the aegis of lame-duck President Buchanan, were therefore quite correct in questioning President Davis’s character as the commander in chief of the new Confederacy. For Jefferson Davis—a man whose commitment to independence they did not trust—was indifferent to their cravings and ravings.5


In fact, it had been Davis himself who had leaked to the authorities in Washington a plot to assassinate President-elect Lincoln, back in January, for he did not like cowardice, or approve of skullduggery. Davis was a soldier, a fine and distinguished soldier—and as such he had a wholly different strategy: a military vision that many of his fellow Southerners did not necessarily share. Not a cat-and-mouse strategy, exactly, but taunt-and-destroy, certainly, just as he’d practiced in Mexico as an infantry colonel. It was a military policy of which President James Buchanan had simply no idea—nor President-elect Abraham Lincoln, his impending successor, still making his long train journey to Washington.
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Assassination Plot


DESPITE THE RISING LEVEL of public concern over the prospect of war, Mr. Lincoln’s stay in Philadelphia passed off safely. Loath to give hostage to fortune, the U.S. president-elect thus kept claiming in public that there would be no war—though less and less convinced himself by his own words.


The partisan hostility and violent emotion expressed at the assemblies where he spoke only seemed to grow worse, the closer Abraham Lincoln approached the capital. Plus the ever-increasing crowds: crowds gathering in numbers never seen in American history. A potential for violence, too, that could no longer be disregarded given that, at 4:00 p.m. on February 21, 1861, during a side trip from Philadelphia, the U.S. president-elect had been given confirmation of the suspected plot to murder him in Maryland: the final state through which he would have to travel by train to get to Washington.


Different sources confirmed the conspiracy—the latest warning coming direct from U.S. Senator William Seward of New York, the man Mr. Lincoln had beaten for the Republican Party presidential nomination in 1860. Another warning, independently, had been sent by messenger from aging Lieutenant-General Winfield Scott, general-in-chief of the United States, in Washington. Most concerned of all was detective Allan Pinkerton, the security chief employed by the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad, who’d put together a network of informants to report to the president-elect from different cities.


The assassination attempt on Mr. Lincoln, Allan Pinkerton now warned the president-elect in Harrisburg, would definitely take place in Baltimore. Popularly known as “Mobtown,” forty miles north of Washington, the city was a boisterous, high-crime metropolis where the police chief—an open supporter of secession—had admitted that he could not guarantee Mr. Lincoln’s safety, and in fact had advised the president-elect not to travel through the state. The huge crowds and narrow streets of Baltimore—a railway bottleneck—would make the work of the assassins easy, Pinkerton warned.1


The plot of Verdi’s Un Ballo in Maschera in New York had thus been weirdly appropriate. Or became so when Mr. Lincoln, at the Jones House in Harrisburg, reluctantly decided that he should not only heed the warnings of his advisers and proceed to Washington that very night, but do so in maschera.
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In the days and weeks afterward, there were to be many accusations of timorousness—“this surreptitious nocturnal dodging or sneaking of the President-elect into his capital city,” as George Strong sniffed in his diary, “under cloud of night.”2


Though the precise details were not made public until later, Mr. Lincoln was advised to travel through Baltimore dressed as an “invalid”: his huge and distinctive body covered in a cape or “gentleman’s shawl,” and a soft, wide-brimmed felt hat, like a sombrero, to hide his face, instead of his unmistakable stovepipe headgear. Even the conductors on the several trains on which he would need to travel as an ordinary passenger, under Mr. Pinkerton’s plan, were not to be privy to his real identity—the president-elect traveling in the back of the sleeping car with just two companions: “herculean” Ward Lamon, his former legal associate and bodyguard, as well as his security officer, Allan Pinkerton. One of Pinkerton’s female detectives, Kate Warne, had booked four double berths for the night of February 22, telling the conductor they were for her “sick brother.”3


Colonel “Bull Head” Sumner, Mr. Lincoln’s military equerry and protector, had been outraged at the proposed disguise. A “d[amne]d piece of cowardice,” he’d protested in Harrisburg, after being told he would not be allowed to accompany the president-elect, lest he himself draw too much attention. A “squad of cavalry,” was all that was required, he’d assured the president-elect—cavalry with which they would “cut our way to Washington, sir.”4


Instead, Colonel Sumner had been ordered to follow with the president-elect’s party the next day and guard its members, especially Mrs. Mary Lincoln. She was so distraught at the plan for Abraham to proceed on his own, ahead of her, though, that she’d had to be physically restrained when told of it. To Colonel Sumner’s added frustration, Ward Lamon insisted on traveling without weapons, lest these compromise the president-elect’s maschera.


Cowardly or not, however, Mr. Lincoln’s decision to pose as a “sick man” in order to avoid the serious threat of assassination, before he’d even been inaugurated, probably best bespoke Abraham’s simple common sense. More importantly, it reflected the increasing fragility of his mission—in particular the weakness of the U.S. Army as a federal authority, unable to protect the president-elect in loyal states that were still, by their own definition, part of the Union.5


Mr. Lincoln confided to those around him that he was not ashamed. He had a sort of semi-sacred obligation to keep the still-young nation from being dismembered through wanton violence. The Confederacy already had a president. As things stood, he himself would be facing “a great rebellion,” and war was probably “inevitable,” he’d confided, privately, to Joseph Gillespie, but until inaugurated he was still not vested with the presidency of the United States; whereas the Southern states, since February 18, not only possessed a sworn-in president, but a president who was reported to be raising an entire Confederate States army on behalf of his new country!6


In short Mr. Lincoln, as president-elect, needed to get to the U.S. capital, quickly—and there establish his bona fides before his own impending inauguration on March 4. He was not afraid of possible “ridicule” by cartoonists and Southerners, as he quietly explained before setting off.7 He was no stranger to ridicule, after all. He’d suffered it all his life—on account of his simple origins, his lack of formal education, his towering, gangly height and long limbs, his long, heavy countenance and features, his difficulties with fiancées as a young man, his refusal to drink hard liquor, his reputedly “mad” wife, Mary. Also his frequent simplemindedness, or distractedness, as well as his love of telling long stories, and his habit of allowing the cat to eat from his table.


The president-elect was, in short, heedless of ridicule. Mockery, in itself, was not the worst of outcomes.
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Ridiculous or not, Mr. Lincoln was no patsy, or puppet; rather, he felt himself to be the chief actor in his own life’s drama.


The telegraph lines from both Harrisburg and Philadelphia to Baltimore were duly cut, lest word of the president-elect’s revised itinerary reach the conspirators. With only two unarmed companions to protect him, the president-elect of the United States thus set off in disguise and in the dark—his version of Paul Revere’s “midnight ride” even conducted in the early hours of the morning by horse, when his small railway car was pulled painfully slowly along the train rails through the deserted center of Baltimore from one railway terminus to the next by a team of braying steeds, thanks to a city ordinance against locomotives being used at night and disturbing innocent citizens’ sleep.


Mr. Lincoln’s maschera was maintained all the way to the capital, in fact. So good was his disguise that, when he finally departed the train at 6:00 a.m. on February 23, 1861, at 30th Street Station, Washington, D.C., the “invalid” was not even recognized.


“We passed out of the car unobserved,” recalled Lamon, years later, to join “the living stream of men and women toward the outer door” of the station. “Abe, you can’t pull that on me!” shouted a voice, though, as its speaker reached to seize the “sick man” by the hand.8


Ward Lamon and Allan Pinkerton leaped to the president-elect’s defense. “Don’t strike him!” Mr. Lincoln cautioned his two companions, however—for it was his good friend, Congressman Elihu Washburne, who’d heard of the scheme through Seward’s indiscreet son, William Jr. “Don’t you know him?”9


Lamon and Pinkerton didn’t. In Washburne’s private carriage, still incognito, the little group then made their way to the Willard Hotel. There the subterfuge was finally abandoned: President-elect Abraham Lincoln safe, finally, in the capital of the formerly united United States.


A telegram was immediately sent for delivery to Mrs. Lincoln, in Harrisburg. “Plums” had gotten “Nuts” to Washington, alive and well.10


When it broke, news of the president-elect’s safe arrival in the capital spread like proverbial wildfire. After breakfasting with Senator Seward, Mr. Lincoln set off to meet the nonconfrontational, seventy-year-old President Buchanan and his cabinet at the White House—after Buchanan had done nothing, incredibly, to ensure the safety of his successor’s trip from Illinois.


Mrs. Lincoln, for her part, traveled without disguise in the presidential Special, arriving in Washington at 4:00 p.m. on February 23, with Robert, Willie, and little Tad, as well as the president-elect’s remaining entourage. Before long, the Willard Hotel was inundated with supporters and people clamoring for official positions in the forthcoming administration.


Somewhat to Mr. Lincoln’s disappointment, the general-in-chief of the U.S. Army, seventy-four-year-old General Winfield Scott, was said to be “out” when Mr. Lincoln tried to call on him that morning. But at least the president-elect’s wife, Mary, and their children were now with him, safe, and by nightfall Mr. Lincoln could rest content at the Willard Hotel and prepare the final version of his forthcoming inaugural address, which he’d kept securely in his pocket.


He’d read carefully his opponent’s inaugural address in Montgomery, and thought that, at the very least, he could do better than “Jeff Davis,” or “Jeffy D.,” as he called him—just as he’d felt he could outdo Senator Stephen Douglas in their celebrated debates in 1858. He was, then, remarkably unintimidated by the challenge made by his rival, President Jefferson Davis, whom he’d never met, but had heard much about.


As also about Davis’s beautiful young wife, Varina, who was reported to have been decidedly popular and admired in Washington during the years she and her husband had lived and entertained there: a woman of high intelligence, considerable learning, and beguiling manner.


A very different personality, it was said, from Mary—just as he himself was very different from his opponent, the warrior rebel in Montgomery.
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Uncle Jeff


AT HIS HOTEL, the Spottiswood, in Montgomery, President Davis remained alone every night—his wife and their children would be able to join the new president only on March 1, after making final arrangements at Brierfield.


Varina was, however, even less confident about the political future than her husband—in fact, she privately thought the Confederacy “doomed.” And by extension, her husband’s new role as its provisional president: exchanging their once-comfortable life as a U.S. senator and his wife in Washington for a proverbial mess of pottage.


Still only thirty-four—eighteen years younger than her husband—Varina had found herself completely unswayed by the fever infecting women as well as men in the Southern states. Her husband had not served as a delegate to the Mississippi state convention which had opted—against his advice—to leave the Union. She’d thus felt initially grateful that his task would only be that of major general in charge of Mississippi’s armed forces, a role in which he would simply do his duty as a soldier, and do it as competently as she knew he would. Jeff was not one to question orders, after all—the corollary of which, of course, had been his agreement, despite his personal misgivings, to serve as president and commander in chief when summoned.


It was too bad, Varina had felt—especially given the trajectory of their lives, which had begun awkwardly and with repeated conflict, but had seemed to improve manifestly over the years.
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Varina Howell hadn’t, in truth, wanted to marry Jeff Davis, given the disparity in their ages, their political party affiliations, and his lingering depression over the death of his first wife, Sarah Knox Taylor—“Knoxie” as she was known—on their honeymoon.


When serving as a young U.S. Army lieutenant on the frontier, Jeff, Varina had been told, had fallen in love with the beautiful daughter of his commanding officer, Colonel Zachary Taylor, who would later become president of the United States. The colonel had considered the army an unsuitable career for a suitor to his darling daughter Sarah’s hand, however, and the propertyless lieutenant was therefore an unsuitable match. On the advice of his much older, diminutive—and cunning—brother, the Mississippi lawyer and plantation owner Joseph Davis, Lieutenant Davis had therefore resigned his army commission in order to marry “Knoxie,” with Joseph’s financial backing, and became a plantation owner.


For his part, Joe had earlier purchased—at fire-sale prices from the Mississippi state government—extensive prime alluvial lands by the banks of the Mississippi River near Vicksburg, and had promised his younger brother Jeff an 890-acre undeveloped parcel there, next to his own on Hurricane Plantation, as a wedding gift. Not only the land, moreover, but enough money, as a loan, to buy enslaved Black workers, clear the land, and plant cotton.1 Armed with this promise, Jefferson had duly married the pretty Miss Taylor in 1835, and become a planter. The marriage had ended, however, in almost immediate tragedy when, on their honeymoon in Louisiana, the two contracted malaria from mosquito bites. Jefferson had survived—though would suffer the aftereffects all his life. “Knoxie,” however, had died an agonizing death, and the groom, who’d been sent off with such good wishes, had returned to Hurricane Bend a widower—never to be forgiven by Colonel Taylor.


Keeping largely to himself, the former army lieutenant, using James Pemberton, his loyal but enslaved Black servant as overseer, had focused for eight years on clearing his estate, Brierfield—so-named for the brambly, thornbush-covered tract—and planting cotton. Following which, still a widower, he had entered local politics as a Democrat. In December, 1843, however, at his manipulative brother Joe’s request, the thirty-five-year-old widower had agreed to fetch and chaperone Varina Howell, the rail-thin seventeen-year-old daughter of Joseph’s old comrade and friend William Burr Howell, who lived in Natchez.


If Joe had hoped to start a romance to help his old friend William, the improvident father of eight children, it had appeared not to have worked, however—at least in the first instance. Joe lived in considerable wealth with an extended family of wife, relatives, and numerous children by a former liaison or liaisons (no one was quite sure), residing on what was considered a model plantation, modeled on the “socialistic reform” theories of Robert Owen, the Welsh pioneer cotton mill owner and philanthropist, but using enslaved Black workers. Joe’s extended family, as plantation owners, was an environment the seventeen-year-old Varina found interesting, convivial, and welcoming, since it mirrored, domestically, that of her own multifaceted family.


Varina’s father, William Howell, had been wellborn. He was the son of Richard Howell, the governor of New Jersey, where William had grown up. William had served with distinction as a Marine Corps officer in the War of 1812, and in the aftermath, on half-pay, had come by flatboat to Natchez, by the Mississippi, where he’d gotten to know Joseph Davis, also a veteran. There the two men had become fast friends—both of them enjoying the company of “loose” as well as “proper” women—and marrying, eventually, rich ones. But whereas Joseph Davis had prospered in his career as a lawyer—and even more in his investments—William Howell’s fortunes had veered from boom to bust. Possessing a jovial personality, Howell was a gambler by nature. He made big money in Mississippi, but had become overextended and had lost it, heavily, in the wake of the Panic of 1837. The Howells’ property and belongings—including their household’s enslaved staff—had had to be auctioned and sold by the sheriff, to the lasting shame of the family.


Varina’s mother, a once-wealthy widow who’d taken William as her second husband, had nevertheless stood by him, financially—and maritally, too, even when he’d exhausted her dowry. She’d continued to bear more children by him—one of them being born after Varina’s own first child.


Mitigating the shame of the Howell family’s fall from financial grace, however, Richard Howell—Varina’s grandfather—had been the very opposite of William: a brilliant warrior-hero of the American Revolutionary War, a major who had served under General George Washington, and, as a lawyer, had then enjoyed a highly distinguished political career, becoming the Federalist governor of New Jersey no fewer than four times, from 1793 to 1801. Varina thus had a genealogical heritage that Jefferson Davis—having chaperoned the teenager from Natchez to come stay on Joe’s Hurricane Plantation, but having then continued his journey to Vicksburg for a Democratic Party meeting—had lacked. And while she found Joe Davis, the plantation owner, generous and intriguing, his much, much younger brother, Jefferson, perplexed her.
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He stood six feet tall and was slim of build, with wavy dark hair, a narrow, ascetic face, a high forehead, pronounced cheekbones, somewhat hollow cheeks, a long aquiline nose, and a sharp chin.


In every way, “Jeff”—as Jefferson asked Miss Howell to call him—had seemed the opposite of his diminutive, sly, much older brother, both in build and—seemingly—rigidity of character. “I do not know whether this Mr. Jefferson Davis is young or old,” Varina had written her mother the night she first met him, in the fall of 1843. “He looks both at times,” she’d observed, “but I believe he is old”—which, relatively speaking, Jeff was: in fact, only two years younger than her mother. “He impresses me as a remarkable kind of man, but of uncertain temper, and has a way of taking for granted that everybody agrees with him when he expresses an opinion, which offends me.” On the other hand, “he is most agreeable and has a particularly sweet voice and a winning manner of asserting himself. The fact is, he is the kind of person I should expect to rescue one from a mad dog at any risk, but to insist upon a stoical indifference to the fright afterward. I do not think I shall ever like him as I do his brother Joe. Would you believe it, he is refined and cultivated, and yet he is a Democrat!”2


Written as an opiniated seventeen-year-old Whig—whose party leader, Henry Clay of Kentucky, would contest the next year’s presidential election—this would be one of the more penetrating observations of Jefferson Davis’s inherent contradictions.


Not that Varina lacked her own. She loved Natchez, on the Mississippi River, and loved the Southern landscape, but she’d been partly educated in Philadelphia and had multiple Howell relatives still in New Jersey. An elderly mentor, bachelor Judge George Winchester from Massachusetts, had rented a room in her parents’ house in Natchez to help them, and had taught her French, Latin, and the classics of world literature.


Varina had done the judge proud. She was clever and independent-minded, able to hold her own not only in conversation but in letter-writing to friends and relatives—especially her long-suffering but devoted mother, Margaret. Certainly she’d been unintimidated by Jeff Davis’s standoffish behavior.


He was good-looking, yes, in his way. Smart: very. But arrogant, too, in a cold, forbidding way that had turned her off.
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Margaret Howell had warned her daughter against the widower-lieutenant: too old in his certitudes; too striking in his tall, martial bearing; too set in his ways; and too inflexibly rigid—the necessary backbone for a fighting lieutenant, but a deficit in a new husband. And unwise for a would-be political representative, which was what Jeff became in 1846, when elected to Congress for his district in Mississippi.


Certainly Jeff was loyal—far too loyal, in Varina’s view, to his much older, quasi-parental brother Joe, to whom Jeff felt he owed his success in life—first in getting him selected to attend West Point (and financially supported while there), then, later, in giving him a big Mississippi estate by the Mississippi River as a prospective plantation. Jeff’s success as a planter, however, was tainted, inevitably, by slavery—the back-breaking work of many hundreds of laborers: enslaved Black people bought at auction in New Orleans, where the firm of George E. Payne handled all his transactions.3 Using scores of enslaved and unpaid workers, Jeff—assisted by James Pemberton—had directed the clearing of the huge, overgrown, swampy tract running two miles down the snaking Mississippi, eighteen miles south of Vicksburg.4 With unrelenting determination, the former army lieutenant had, like a minor pharaoh, transformed the land into a highly profitable cotton plantation.


“Uncle Jeff”—as the teenage Varina had mockingly called him during their courtship—had certainly proved a contrast to his conniving brother Joe, both in his loyalty to those who, like Pemberton (who had been given to him as a slave, when Jeff was a child, by his grandfather, and had accompanied him in combat in the Indian wars), he trusted with his life, and in his absolute integrity.


Courage, too—and in that respect, Varina’s immediate insight had not been wrong. The former lieutenant rode well, bolt upright, and was lauded by his peers as a fine shot and skillful hunter. Imperturbable in a crisis. Also: more romantic, more stoic, and more resolute than Varina had first imagined him capable of—as she’d discovered when, after fifteen months of dogged courtship, Jeff, a widower for the past decade, had asked Varina—a penniless, dowerless teenager, thanks to her father’s disgrace—to marry him.
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The wedding had taken place at her parents’ home, The Briars, in Natchez on February 26, 1845. But if Varina had thought Jeff would move to the bustling town, near her parents, she’d been mistaken. He’d adamantly refused to budge from his brother’s three-story brick mansion on Hurricane Plantation—and the real battle of wills between husband and wife had begun.


From courtship to quasi-ownership in marriage was but a short step; the former lieutenant insisting that Varina mend her ways, mind her smart tongue, and be more accommodating to his Davis relatives at Hurricane Plantation, alive or dead. She’d intensely disliked, for example, being confused with the “sainted Sarah,” her predecessor—whose cemetery grave they were required to visit on her own honeymoon in Louisiana. Though charmed by bustling New Orleans, she’d been uncomfortable at the parallel honeymoon trip, as well as at having to meet people who, inevitably, had known Sarah.5 And by the auctions of enslaved people that took place there.


Jeff had wanted, in short, to mold his new acquisition against her will and inclination, insisting that the nineteen-year-old become “calmer,” show more adult “self-control” in front of others—display, in fact, the manners of a married Southern “belle.” Since he himself was supremely self-controlled, and ran his Brierfield plantation—which still lacked its own plantation house—in a benign, patriarchal, no-nonsense manner, forbidding the maltreatment or whipping of enslaved people, no matter the offense, and using James Pemberton—who had a wife, Jullia Ann, and son on the plantation—as his right-hand man, Varina had never feared Jeff would be violent toward her.6 She later reflected, though, on the “constant compromises of temper and mode of life” necessary between two people who were wide apart in age in the first year of marriage.7 A difference in age and character that had become all the more vexing when, within six months of their wedding, Jeff had left her alone with his Hurricane relatives so that he could campaign for a likely Democratic seat in the U.S. House of Representatives.


Since “Uncle Jeff” had duly won the fall election of 1845, and agreed to take her with him to Washington in December (unlike most Southern congressmen, who left their spouses behind), Varina had been grateful, in the end. Grateful, too, at being thereby able to leave behind Jeff’s overbearing, vacuous, and often intellectually unstimulating Davis relatives, who judged her every word and expression, not to mention her attire, deportment, and slightly dusky complexion.


Like its neighboring states of Virginia and Maryland, Washington, D.C., was still a slaveholding district, with strict policing of curfews even for free Black people, and patrols seeking runaway slaves. In contrast to Hurricane Plantation, however, the nation’s capital had, socially, been like a breath of fresh air, even in winter. Varina had found herself in the company of men and women with whom she could converse about the books and authors she loved; who spoke French, often, and who hailed from all parts of the republic—thus giving her a new perspective on marriage as a white woman’s passport to freedom of mind, if not from marital obligations.


In the capital there had been open discussion of the merits and evils of slavery, as the abolitionist movement in the North grew ever-more strident. And although Jeff would not discuss the ethics of slavery with her—or with anyone else for the most part, taking for granted the “peculiar domestick institution”—she herself was conflicted.


In Jeff’s view—and that of most of his Southern colleagues—slavery was as old as civilization, going back to pre-Pharaonic times; moreover, he believed that, when well led, such enslaved humans, if humanely treated, could live hard-working but contented lives. More importantly to the nation’s exchequer, the unpaid output of slavery was crucial, since the enslaved were helping build the new nation itself—the fruits of their labor providing vast profits for Northern investors and cotton merchants, too, thanks to the ever-expanding international market for the commodity.8


Varina herself had remained ambivalent, however. Not only about the ethics of slavery, but about former Lieutenant Davis’s foray into national politics as a Southern Democrat, upholding the party line on slavery and its perpetuation—even expansion into other territories—rather than as paid labor, as in the case, say, of indentured servants, whose contractual terms gave them the option to stay or leave once they’d completed their service. On the way to Washington Varina had met former vice president Calhoun himself, the distinguished theorist of slavery’s merits, who’d been appointed senator for South Carolina that year, and who judged the teenager talented and well-mannered, despite her combativeness.9 For herself, however, Varina had been skeptical whether she had the “fortitude to be a Politician’s wife,” given Jeff’s absolutism over slavery, which he conveniently masked as “States’ rights.” Rights, of course, to permit their white citizens to continue to hold other human beings in bondage against their will, permanently—and their children and grandchildren, too—without any legal rights of their own, however they were treated or abused: especially in the matter of sexual abuse, where rape by white plantation owners, indeed by white men generally, was not a crime.


Far from the brutality of Southern plantation life, though, enslaved Black people in Washington were more like indentured servants. They comprised almost a third of the population—the majority of them manumitted.10 Liberated from such guilt as the congressman’s wife, Varina had thrown herself into acting as Jeff’s young congressional scribe and amanuensis in the capital, even taking dictation for his speeches and writing letters for him. She’d made friends with the Blairs of New Hampshire, Daniel Webster of Massachusetts, and had discussed Dante, Wordsworth, and Byron with the chairman of the House Committee on Foreign Affairs. Moreover she’d found, despite her young age and her gender, that she had no inhibition talking with men like President Polk’s secretary of the navy, George Bancroft—feeling equal to them in intelligence and education, if not in life experience. Unwittingly, she’d thus rehearsed her eventual role as First Lady of her husband’s “country” almost sixteen years before she ever reached Montgomery. Varina was musical, well-read, clever, witty, a born conversationalist—in fact deemed, in her time, to be one of the great women conversationalists of the age. At the time, she was only nineteen.11


Given her precocious talent for listening and open discussion, it was debatable whether it was a good thing, then, that Varina Howell Davis had arguably enslaved herself to a military autocrat: a man handsome, tall, seriously intellectual, and gracious on the outside, but on the inside profoundly inflexible, jealous, quick to threaten a duel when crossed, and driven by his nature to exercise command. For no sooner had the first year’s session of the new Congress in Washington ended than, to Varina’s dismay, she’d found he’d gone ahead and asked to serve in the military as commander of a volunteer regiment that the governor of Mississippi was contributing to the burgeoning American war in the West with Mexico. A war to wrest territory north of the Rio Grande and secure California permanently for the Union.


Varina had been frantic and furious, since Jeff had given her his solemn word he would not volunteer.12 He’d spoiled her, indulging her teenage whims in Washington, purchased fashionable hats and dresses for her, encouraged her to give parties, called her his “Baby.” He’d been proud of her—even sharing his work as a U.S. legislator and representative with her. He’d been patient, and tender, too, using instruct-and-reward tactics. “My manners are much improved,” Varina had written her mother. Thanks to “Jeffy’s” good example, she’d reported, “I have lost a great deal of that emb[ar]rassed angry looking manner which made me [appear] to so much disadvantage.”13


Varina’s attempts to curb her defiant nature, however, had not been enough to defeat Jeff in the things that really mattered to him: his Davis family; slavery, which was the key to his wealth; and, beneath the veneer of good manners, controlled violence, which he saw as the ultimate means to achieve and defend one’s aims and honor in life—both on the plantation and on the battlefield.


Having taken Varina to the Virginia countryside to escape the worsening summer heat in the city, Jeff had then broken his promise, almost immediately.14 He was determined to fight in President Polk’s controversial new war, which he’d voted to support and fund in Congress on May 11, 1846. It was, after all, an armed struggle that spoke to his—and Polk’s—deepest, slavery-expansionist, patriotic American soul: a war conducted on the flimsiest pretext, however, and at the expense both of Mexico and local Indian tribes.


Since the U.S. Army of the time had been too small, at 7,300 men, to intimidate others—whether mighty Britain in a squabble over the borders of Oregon, or Mexico over its disputed territory above the Rio Grande—a call had swiftly been made to states to muster militia volunteers. Mississippi had not been found wanting—in fact, by June 1846 it had been at the forefront of Southern war fever.15 At Vicksburg, seventeen thousand militia volunteers assembled—but with other states also anxious to contribute, only a single Mississippi regiment of a thousand men was permitted to be raised, funded, and provided for by the state.16 To serve in the “First Mississippi Regiment,” Congressman Jefferson Davis, as former first lieutenant of the U.S. Army, had put forward his own name—and after contested balloting (since by tradition, volunteers chose their own colonel), Jeff had been appointed as a full colonel.17


Colonel Davis might claim, after the fact, that duty had called. The fact was, however, that he’d made the call himself. Had volunteered—reneging on his promise to Varina—and for a deeply contentious cause. The Mexican War, as it became known, was deprecated by many prominent figures in America, and by many Whigs—Abraham Lincoln among them. By Varina’s own Howell family also. By all, in fact, who’d felt that calm negotiation—and money—would eventually secure American interests, just as the Louisiana Purchase had done, without the need to go to war.


Thirty-eight-year-old Jefferson Davis’s promise to his young wife had never, then, been sincere. It had become evident in their marriage that war came first—regardless of whatever apologies Jeff subsequently gave for his change of mind. Thus Varina had “found out last night accidentally that he had committed himself about going,” she’d written in anguish to her mother. “I have cried until I am stupid, but you know there is ‘no use crying, better luck next time’”—repeating her mother Margaret’s mantra, born of years of disappointment and the fecklessness of an unreliable, forever gambling, bankrupt husband, William Howell.18


At least “Jeffy” was not feckless. “I am so miserable I feel as if I could lay down my life to be with you and Father,” Varina had penned. “Jeff thinks there is something the matter with me,” she added, given her frenzied reaction to the discovery of his lying, “but I know there is not.”19 The Mississippi volunteer regiment was being authorized by the U.S. War Department for twelve months’ active duty—despite Jeff’s urging that the call should be for the duration of the war, which might last much longer, as the warrior in him was well aware, and as Varina feared.


If only, she wrote her mother, “Jeff was a cross bad husband, old, ugly, or stupid I could better bear for him to go on a year’s campaign, but he is so tender, and good,” the now twenty-year-old congressman’s wife allowed, “that I feel like he ought never to leave me.”20


Davis had left her, however. And the U.S. Congress, too.


Resigning, belatedly and reluctantly, his seat—which meant young Varina would have to go back to Brierfield—he’d set off. In tears, Varina had had to accept the “bitter” reality. She’d married him. Although an aunt of hers had famously divorced her husband to keep her money—and sanity—Varina had no money of her own. Moreover she was too much in love with her “Jeffy,” at the end of the day, to do anything but submit, and be calm about it.21
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Mexico, almost inevitably, had been the making of Jefferson Davis.


It had made General Zachary Taylor, too—Jeff’s former commanding officer, brief father-in-law, and ultimately army commander of the U.S. expeditionary force, who afterward became twelfth president of the United States, in 1849. It had also made the reputation of General Winfield Scott, the war’s other senior commander, who had stood unsuccessfully for the U.S. presidency in 1852, but had nevertheless remained general-in-chief of the U.S. Army thereafter—in fact, was promoted to lieutenant general: the first such promotion since George Washington.


Mounted on Tartar, the Arab horse his brother Joseph had given him, and wielding his sword above his head, Colonel Davis had led his Mississippi troops in the storming of Monterey and its several Mexican forts in September 1846—thereafter resisting all counterattacks by the Mexican army under General Santa Anna. “I very believe that if he should tell his men to jump into a cannon’s mouth they would think it all right,” Varina’s younger brother had written home from the front—which hadn’t quieted Varina’s nerves.22 She’d fallen “unwell” again, as she’d done in June, and in the lull of the armistice signed between General Taylor and General Santa Anna, Jeff had rushed a thousand miles back to Brierfield—only to find Varina at war with his brother.23


It seemed Varina had only just learned of her husband’s secret last will and testament, written in the event that he be killed in Mexico. Discovering that her husband—or more likely, his snake of a lawyer-brother, Joe—had drawn up the will so that Varina, the twenty-year-old widow, would inherit nothing beyond the right to “reside” at Hurricane Plantation with members of the Joe Davis family until she died, Varina had been incensed, accusing Joe of depriving her of her “legal rights.” For Brierfield, it appeared, did not even belong to Jeff, since Joe had deliberately kept the title to the property in his own name.24 This as a safeguard against any of the Davis family assets exiting to the “wild” and improvident Howell family.


Varina had also learned of a stipulation that, even if Jeff failed to die in combat, Joe and Jeff’s widowed sister, Amanda, was nevertheless to live at Brierfield alongside her, in the new house currently being built on the plantation, together with Amanda’s seven children.25


Varina—still childless—had been stunned and disappointed by what she saw as personal betrayal by both Davis brothers. It was not only the beginning of years of resentment and ill will toward Joe, but also a Lysistrata-style war between Varina and Jeff, as Varina fell frequently ill and refused to have conjugal relations, and the couple waged a battle of psychological and behavioral attrition: Jeff determined that his child-bride—his “Baby”—should conform to his expectations and demands as a wealthy husband, while Varina, without money of her own and with no offspring, resisted as best she could.


The battle of wills had been additionally difficult, not only because her father, as a bankrupt individual unable to get credit, was wholly dependent on the largesse of his family relations and friends such as Joseph Davis, but also because Colonel Davis, her husband, had then promptly left her again in the midst of this family feud. A popular veteran already on account of the great victory at Monterey, Colonel Jeff had returned to his regiment in Mexico—where hostilities had recommenced when President Polk repudiated General Taylor’s armistice. The war, it seemed, must resume.


This time Colonel Davis had distinguished himself yet again in command of his regiment. Though outnumbered by an enemy of four thousand troops seeking to turn the American flank at Buena Vista, on the Rio Grande, Colonel Davis had saved the day. With the Mexican army having broken through the neighboring 2nd Indiana Regiment, Colonel Davis had ordered his men to “advance firing”—twenty-one rounds—in counterattack, and had halted General Santa Anna’s threatened breakthrough. He’d remained mounted on his horse, leading his men despite a bullet hitting his metal stirrup, penetrating his ankle and peppering his foot with brass shards. When General Santa Anna, puzzled by the reverse, had ordered an entire brigade of Mexican cavalry—“richly caparisoned lancers”—to resume the attack, Colonel Davis had thereupon employed a tactic that would become legendary in the U.S. Army: a soon-to-be famous V-formation pointed at the enemy, instead of the old hollow defensive square used by Wellington at Waterloo.26 Ordering his men—strengthened by troops of the Third Indiana Regiment—to wait until they could virtually see the eyes of the Mexican cavalry brigade riding toward them, Davis’s men had destroyed the lancers with concentrated Mississippi Regiment gunfire, using the new percussion-cap, rifle-barreled weapons without which Davis had refused to go into combat—a feat that led to the regiment being rechristened the “First Mississippi Rifles.”27


Colonel Davis’s performance had been duly feted in New Orleans and Vicksburg—but it had proved the death knell to any hopes Varina might cherish of changing her husband’s approach to life. Or marriage. He’d become a national combat hero—but he did, at least, turn down President Polk’s written offer of a generalship in the U.S. Army at the rank of brigadier general in favor of an appointment to Mississippi’s vacant U.S. Senate seat.


A resolution of sorts had thus been achieved. The husband who had written bitterly how badly she’d treated him, a “cripple” from his war wound, thanks to the “miserable business of Brother Joe’s” title to the plantation, turned his back on the military, and the former congressman’s young bride became, at age twenty-one in 1847, a U.S. senator’s wife in Washington, not a minor relative on Hurricane Plantation, Mississippi. Once installed in Washington, the more cosmopolitan society had permitted her to take full advantage of the change of culture—which she did. However, as for their marital equation, she’d had to admit ultimate defeat in terms of family power. Not only was the will not immediately changed, but Jeff himself was not going to change, either.


Over time, though—and with a distance of more than a thousand miles from Brother Joseph—the senator and his wife had been able to patch up their romantic relationship, emotionally and physically. Finally, after several miscarriages and visits to a consultant in Philadelphia, Varina had given birth to a son, Sam—causing Jeff, belatedly, to supposedly change his will: at least, insofar as she would not be made to share Brierfield with Jeff’s widowed sister, Amanda Bradford, and her children.28


Sam, however, had then died of measles, aged two. It was the second devastating loss that Jeff Davis had suffered—the first being “Knoxie,” his first wife. Now, at least, Varina was alive and by his side.
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Grief had certainly bonded Jeff and Varina still closer, as heartbroken parents—enough, at least, for Varina to conceive three more children during their years in Washington, far away from Mississippi. Jeff had been appointed U.S. secretary of war under President Franklin Pierce in 1853, with a seat in the cabinet that allowed the Davises to move into a bigger, more imposing house in the capital.


Beneath the genuine, often quite passionate effusions of love between them, however, and their unusually physical bond—Varina becoming more “voluptuous” (as one biographer put it) in her late twenties and early thirties, as motherhood swelled her once-boney figure—they were living two lives: Varina in her cultural element in the city, while in the halls of the Capitol the tall, austere soldier-senator warned more and more of war—civil war—unless the South was treated better in terms of perpetual guarantees of Southern slavery and its expansion, as his wife attempted to keep the proverbial peace among her friends and acquaintances from North, East, South, and West.29


In an increasingly fractious U.S. Senate—to which Davis was again elected, following the change of administration under President James Buchanan in 1857—and with patience fraying on all sides, this had not been easy. Discourse had too often turned into demand: demand that, unless the formerly Whig, now Republican, party were to conform to Southern Democratic insistence that slavery be permitted as part and parcel of America’s western expansion, the Southern states would have every “right” to leave the Union: to secede. Senator Davis not only warned of this, moreover, but openly threatened it, in order to secure further concessions in the U.S. Congress.


And in the meantime Jeff, as a celebrated combat soldier, quietly prepared for the worst—advising his own state, and other slaveholding states, to obtain and stockpile weapons. For if civil war should divide the Southern states from Northern states, like the Wars of the Roses in old England, former colonel Jefferson Davis was determined to use his battlefield experience, as well as his administrative skills in running the U.S. War Department for four years, to put the South in a favorable position to conduct its defense.


Using his military standing, Jeff had therefore leveraged his reputation to urge the Mississippi governor, John Pettus, and governors of other Southern states such as South Carolina (the most anxious of all to secede), to hold back until they were properly organized and equipped for military action—however slim the odds of the South winning such a war.
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The disparity between the North and the South—in population as well as economic power—made real secession a nonsensical gamble, as Davis was privately aware.


The senator for Mississippi had, however, faced far superior odds and forces in Mexico, after all, and had prevailed. The officer who at West Point had earlier challenged fellow students and officers to duel on the slightest pretext—or on the pretext of a slight—had become more adept at holding himself in check, for the most part: perhaps in tribute to Varina’s influence, since Jeff seemed to see and adore her as an integral form of Davis family property, now that she was the mother of his three children.


Secession, as a concept, might be damned as “treason” by opponents, but with the splitting of the Democratic ticket—and the election of Mr. Lincoln as a “Black” Republican by a plurality of votes in November 1860—the switch from threat of secession to reality had become, in Varina’s husband’s opinion, almost culturally unavoidable, however impractical. It betokened a kind of preexisting tribal divergence between North and South that had gotten steadily worse as the North had industrialized and, thanks to open immigration, became ever more dominant—finally reaching a climax with South Carolina’s secession in December of that year and Mississippi’s withdrawal from the Union soon after that, on January 9, 1861.


The rest—the farewells in Washington, Jeff’s brief appointment to command Mississippi’s state forces as a major general, his summons to Montgomery as president-elect, his inauguration in Montgomery, Varina’s arrival there as First Lady on March 1, 1861—had passed, in retrospect, in a blur, so remorselessly fast had it all taken place.


Jeff had greeted her off the boat, at the pier in Montgomery, and had ridden with her to the Spottiswood Hotel, where he’d been living since his inauguration. And shown her also the houses they’d been offered as the president’s new residence, or White House.


Behind the scenes, however, Jeff had also met with Major P. G. T. Beauregard, late of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers: a Louisiana officer who’d been offering his services to the Confederacy since February 26, 1861.


Jeff knew and admired the young major, but in contemplating how he could best use the talents of the creole officer, he had little idea just how the engineer’s brilliance would soon spark the near collapse of the United States.
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In the president’s modest office in the Confederate War Department in Montgomery, unnoticed by members of the cabinet, former general Davis and former major Beauregard quietly discussed Beauregard’s future—and in particular, the most pressing item on the president’s agenda: the securing of Fort Sumter, at the mouth of Charleston’s famous harbor, for his secret Southern defense strategy.


The fortress, as President Davis saw it, would be the centerpiece of Confederate defenses against seaborne attack, once war came—as both knew it must, once Mr. Lincoln took the reins from his pathetic predecessor.


Major Beauregard was quirky—short, and devilishly handsome in a Gallic way, with wavy curls and dark, darting eyes set in a small-featured, strong-cheekboned, boyish countenance. Most striking of all, however, was the fact he was a highly trained, experienced, professional engineer. According to preliminary reports that President Davis had received from Major William H. C. Whiting, Davis’s initial inspector of Charleston’s defenses, it was clear that seizure of the federal fort would be no mean task. It would, therefore, have to be done, the president and Major Beauregard agreed, as Napoleon had earlier besieged Toulon: with relentless tactical preparation, leading up to a coordinated rather than piecemeal assault—unless the Lincoln administration, in the meantime, could be persuaded to evacuate it.


Satisfied, Davis promoted the Louisiana native to the rank of brigadier general without further ado. Bearing his commission to take field command of the new Confederate Army forces at Charleston, General Beauregard had thus set off from Montgomery for South Carolina by train on March 1, three days before Mr. Lincoln was inaugurated in Washington.


Once in Charleston, Beauregard was to direct a methodical, relentless siege and occupation of the great fortress—a seemingly impregnable castle which, unbeknownst to Mr. Lincoln (who saw it merely as one of the few token installations in the South still boasting a federal garrison), was to be the vital key to Davis’s plan to defend the nascent Confederacy against assault.30


30
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Sermon on the Mount


MARCH 4, 1861, dawned cloudy and windy in Washington, District of Columbia, seven hundred miles from Montgomery—though the day promised to get brighter.


Rising at 5:00 a.m. at the Willard Hotel, the U.S. president-elect looked over the text of his inaugural address and made final revisions. He also received a number of visitors—including Simon Cameron, the prominent Pennsylvania journalist, banker, railway builder, and U.S. senator: a Republican supporter to whom Mr. Lincoln had offered the plum if forbidding post of secretary of war—a crucial cabinet appointment if hostilities proved inevitable. Yet a curious appointment, too, given that Senator Cameron had even less military experience than the president-elect.


Cameron also had a dark reputation, having been accused—among myriad other schemes—of defrauding the Winnebago Indians and making himself rich when appointed the official commissioner to settle land claims in Pennsylvania. The senator, however, was too politically powerful in the Republican Party to leave out of the cabinet; in fact, he’d come third in the party’s presidential nominating ballot in August 1860, and remained the most prominent political leader in Pennsylvania—a crucial state if the new president were to call for troops to be raised. During the jostling that took place at the Willard Hotel prior to the inauguration, Senator Cameron was thus his state’s prime contender in the filling of cabinet positions—a process the president-elect heartily disliked, but understood he must swallow. It was the price, after all, of ultimate executive power in a democracy.


Some writers would later claim that Mr. Lincoln had, in fact, deliberately chosen rivals: men who would squabble among themselves but thereby remain loyal to him, as the new president who had appointed them. This was debatable, however—indeed unlikely. The truth was, Mr. Lincoln had arrived as an outsider in Washington. He came with zero experience of executive or military command. He was, in short, simply feeling his way, by trial and error. The only real rivalry would be between him and his more experienced opponent in Montgomery, President Jefferson Davis.


Lacking experience to match that of President Davis, Mr. Lincoln had in truth only a vague idea of whom he should appoint in his administration, and had found himself immediately bombarded by advice from those who did have experience—each of whom, however, had a different idea of how to proceed in terms of the national crisis facing the government. Should he appease the secession states, or should he coerce them into reconciliation? That was the question.


There was, too, the matter of voter support, in a country that had not voted overwhelmingly for him—Mr. Lincoln had received a million fewer votes than his opponents in the November election. The president-elect’s initial appointments were thus, in the end, entirely and understandably political: meant to placate constituencies of powerful factions and important sections of supporters. Appointments made not carelessly at all, in a political sense, yet with little or no notion of how effective or ineffective the appointees would fare in their new cabinet roles.


Which left rhetoric, in the meantime, as the president-elect’s only real authority: the power of speechmaking.
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Thus far, Mr. Lincoln’s addresses had been widely reported in newspapers across the nation, but—given his desire not to exacerbate tensions—they had not necessarily been applauded by a Northern press yearning for a more muscular performance than that of outgoing President Buchanan. Nor had they been considered to be as serious in tone as the speeches that President Davis had made on his journey to his inauguration.


“The other President, Mr. Davis,” as Gordon Bennett had pointed out in the New York Herald, on February 19, had been received “with the greatest enthusiasm during his journey from Mississippi to Montgomery, Alabama. He made five and twenty speeches on the route, but we do not hear that he told any stories, cracked any jokes, asked the advice of young women about his whiskers, or discussed political platforms,” the editor had sneered. Instead, President Davis had made clear his view that “civil war is inevitable. But we must recollect that Mr. Davis is a soldier, a graduate of West Point, a hero of the Mexican War and a statesman of military turn of mind.” Mr. Lincoln, by contrast, was “a splitter of [fence] rails, a distiller of whisky. A storyteller and a joke maker. He afterward became a stump orator, and used his early experiences as his literary capital. Now we have the rails abandoned, the whisky still stopped, but the scent of both hangs about the manner and the matter of his speeches.”1


Mr. Lincoln should pay attention and get his act together, the editor had opined.


“For the future, the Northern President should profit by the example of his Southern rival, who does not attempt to tell the Southern people that the crisis is nothing, that nobody is hurt (on the contrary he acknowledges that the revolution hurts both North and South), but declares that the South is ready to meet any hardship rather than abandon its principles. Mr. Lincoln must look the state of things in the face,” Bennett had declared. “It cannot be turned off with a joke, and when next he opens his mouth we trust he will not put his foot in it.”2
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Undeterred ever since his safe arrival at the Willard Hotel, Abraham Lincoln had sought advice from many people on what, in the end, to say at his inauguration. Also, the best way of saying it.


Chief among the president-elect’s advisers had been the big man on the capital’s campus, though a foot shorter in height: Senator William Seward, who not only literally had a big head, out of all proportion with his small body, but was widely known to be supremely arrogant as well. Asked by the president-elect for his comments on the fourth draft of the carefully protected inaugural address, Senator Seward had tried to delete or soften anything abrasive or coercive in the draft—convinced, despite President Davis’s recent inaugural in Montgomery, that a negotiated settlement was still possible which could bring the Confederacy back into the Union fold.


As an outsider to Washington since his brief term in Congress in the 1840s, Abraham Lincoln had listened carefully to the New Yorker, who was backed by Thurlow Weed, the publisher of the Albany Evening Journal—Weed, a man widely considered to be kingmaker in New York politics. For good or ill, Mr. Lincoln had therefore mulled over their suggestions before finalizing his text: one by which he would introduce himself to the nation, at the most combustible moment in eighty years and more. He’d rolled it into a scroll, and though naturally nervous, it was from excitement more than nerves, for he’d grown to love addressing crowds after a lifetime of small Illinois courtrooms. Unlike his opponent in Montgomery, he liked people; found them fascinating in terms of their variety of personalities and egos. In small gatherings this often played against his authority. But in front of crowds, his height, his voice, his command of rhetoric—unstilted, direct, as if addressing each individual in the audience—made people listen. So much so, he was often given to lacing his speeches with anecdotes and asides. This occasion, however, would be too important, too august, to risk newspaper irritation, at least from supportive editors. He’d thus worn a new suit and behaved with resolute dignity as President Buchanan led him from his hotel to the open carriage, and had doffed his stovepipe hat to the crowds lining Pennsylvania Avenue, aware of armed sentinels on the rooftops, cavalry at intersections, bands playing, soldiers everywhere. Half the country—well, not half, but a vast part of it—might be, in a sense, absent without leave, having celebrated their illegal, even criminal absence in pouring rain in Alabama the month before, lauding their provisional, unelected “president” as he threatened use of the sword, if thwarted. Nevertheless, Abraham Lincoln was elected by the people of the United States, even if only by a plurality. He would become the sixteenth president since the nation’s independence, and had to hope that his words would serve to calm tempers and show confidence in the outcome. Patience and understanding, too, as the father of the nation.


Very much in the same manner as Jefferson Davis, Abraham Lincoln wished still to be seen as a man of reason, despite being widely traduced by Democrats as a radical Black Republican. Standing taller even than his adversary in Montgomery, and showing a chiseled, almost sculpted head with a recently grown black beard framing his long, bony face, he was proud of his new coat as, hand in hand with President Buchanan, he walked through the boarded tunnel into the unfinished Capitol building and out onto the specially erected stage or platform on the east side to take his place in the front row of the assembled dignitaries.


Above them all, the arm of a huge crane leaned, at rest, awaiting resumption of its work, namely completion of the planned dome. On the ground lay the bronze statue of Freedom, which would one day rise above it.3 Somehow this seemed uncannily symbolic, as the thousands of onlookers pressed forward, the better to hear the new president as he rose to his feet and, unsure where to put down his soon-to-be signature black silk stovepipe hat, he turned to the seated figure of Senator Stephen Douglas—the Democrat from Illinois who’d beaten him to sit in the U.S. Senate in 1858, but whom, as one of the two competing Democratic candidates, Abraham had then beaten by nearly half a million votes in the 1860 presidential election.4


Without hurrying or showing any trace of anxiety, Mr. Lincoln unfurled his much-amended speech upon the lectern, and reached for his spectacles in his jacket pocket.


Then he began.
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Intent upon reminding listeners of the merits of orderly succession rather than secession—the president-elect began with a historical preamble, going back to the nation’s parting from the British colonial empire. He spoke with firm, commanding assurance, yet he was fully aware that he was probably speaking pour l’histoire. For, whatever Mr. Lincoln might say about wishing to find a peaceful solution to the current national crisis, it was probably too late, he knew; the horse had bolted, and the barn was ablaze.


“Apprehension seems to exist,” Mr. Lincoln declared (once he’d disposed of the niceties of U.S. inaugural tradition), “among the people of the Southern States, that by the accession of a Republican Administration, their property”—meaning enslaved Black people—“and their peace, and personal security, are to be endangered.”5


With that he set about assuring them—or trying to—it wasn’t so.


As sixteenth U.S. president-to-be (for he, like Davis, would take his oath only after delivering his address), Lincoln now formally, and in public, denied that his Republican administration was planning to take anything from anybody. He’d never, after all, said or threatened he would interfere with extant slavery in the South or the border states, as he emphasized. And he vowed he never would.


Assuming, of course, that the Confederacy was forthwith dissolved.


The incoming president even repeated the same with regard to other possessions: solemnly assuring the thousands of listeners standing in front of the Capitol—and the many more who would, in due course, read or learn of his address—that “fugitives” would continue to be returned by state or federal authorities to their Southern enslavers as human “property,” as per the law, if they escaped—just so long as “free men” of color, legally manumitted former enslaved Black men, were not re-enslaved.


To those deeply worried by all that had not happened since the November 1860 election—namely the failure of the U.S. government under President Buchanan to stop the secession of seven Southern states over the past four months (now including the formal secession of Texas on March 2)—this sounded horribly Buchanan-esque.


As the president-elect continued his oration, however, it soon became clear he’d merely been clearing the legal and rhetorical decks. What he wanted to do, Mr. Lincoln then declared, was to focus on what was really at issue, in his mind: not slavery but the survival of the United States as a single nation.


As he’d said in his many speeches as president-in-waiting over the past weeks, the new U.S. president did not intend to be intimidated by acts of secession, or grand declarations of independence, whether politically inspired or accompanied by the use of weapons against the federal government. For the Union was sacrosanct: a union established by and in the U.S. Constitution.


“It follows from these views that no State, upon its own mere motion, can lawfully get out of the Union,” the impending president solemnly stated after recapitulating the swelling history of the United States over the past seven decades. “I therefore consider that, in view of the Constitution and the laws, the Union is unbroken.”6 The new Confederate States of America, in his view—and that of the majority of other American patriots—was a myth, a fantasy.


He then affirmed that to the “extent of my ability, I shall take care, as the Constitution itself expressly enjoins upon me”—which was to say, as impending commander in chief—“that the laws of the Union be faithfully executed in all the States.”7 All included those states that had absconded or were now contemplating secession.


“I trust this will not be regarded as a menace,” the president-elect added, but should be seen “only as the declared purpose of the Union”—namely “that it will constitutionally defend, and maintain itself.” He foresaw no bloodshed “in doing this”—at least, not “unless it be forced upon the national authority.” For the “power confided to me,” as sixteenth president of the United States, “will be used to hold, occupy, and possess the property, and places belonging to the government, and to collect the duties and imposts” owing to the United States, at all federal harbors and ports. Beyond “what may be necessary for these objects,” he promised, “there will be no invasion” of Southern states, “no using of force against, or among the people anywhere.”8


No invasion. No use of force. These were words, delivered under oath and in public, that soon enough would be ridiculed and used against him—for how otherwise, in reality, could the new president subdue mass insurrection by the South, and in the South?


In the meantime, however, Mr. Lincoln promised that “discretion” would be exercised regarding past outrages and illegal seizures, in the interest of finding “a peaceful solution of the national troubles, and the restoration of fraternal sympathies and affections.”9


As elected sixteenth president of the entire country he would, in short, overlook recent acts of treason and rebellion, if the Confederate states now stood down and rejoined the Union.
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It was the mix of firmness and concession, together with a fawning acknowledgment of Southern enslavers’ rights and their concern over preserving slavery in the South, that made Mr. Lincoln’s latest speech unusually intriguing.


Mr. Lincoln came across, thus far, as honest, frank, and realistic as to the current situation, as well as the need for understanding and patience in reconstituting a fractured but still inherently unbroken Union, however theoretical that notion might be.


Having set this hospitable table, so to speak, Mr. Lincoln stated he was not even going to address the hotheads “who seek to destroy the Union.” Instead, he wanted to move on and speak to “those, who really love the Union.”10


Telegram after telegram, meantime, was already transmitting across the nation the first half of the new U.S. president’s peroration.


“I like the way this document opens,” the lawyer George Strong immediately penned in his diary in New York. After dinner Strong therefore sent out for a later edition, containing the second half of the inaugural address, “but in vain—all copies having been sold.”11
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Directness of speech, allied with thoughtfulness and goodwill—these were, of course, tactics Mr. Lincoln was able to bring to bear as a practiced courtroom lawyer: first examining before the jury the supposed legal basis for the current challenge, then exposing its weakness.


Using a gold-topped cane laid across the pages of his thirty-five-minute address to stop them blowing away, the president-elect had gone on to address the idea of secession head-on—and demonstrate not only the notion’s lack of constitutional legality, but its inherent impracticality.


“Physically speaking we cannot separate,” the new president-to-be explained of North and South, as well as those of differing, conflicting persuasions within the two. “We cannot remove our respective sections from each other, nor build an impassable wall between them.” The citizens of the Union, North and South, were stuck together like glue even within their own states, whether they liked it or not. “A husband and wife may be divorced, and go out of the presence, and beyond the reach of each other; but the different parts of our country cannot do this. They cannot but remain face to face; and intercourse, either amicable or hostile, must continue between them.” How, then, would “secession” make such intercourse “more advantageous, or more satisfactory, after separation than before?” he asked rhetorically.12


Somehow, by patience and goodwill, the constituent states of the American republic had to remain as one, he argued, and find ways to compromise and get along. The nation, as constituted and ratified in 1790, was a democracy. Hence, if the majority of the citizens, in their wisdom, decided on their “revolutionary right to dismember the Union,” then so be it. But that would need to be decided by majority vote in the next democratically held national election, with a democratically elected U.S. Congress, and the decision ratified as a constitutional amendment. Until then, the current United States of America was an indissoluble union—and no individual state, or a subsidiary collection of them, could merely decide, on the spur of the moment, to decamp because the Union no longer suited them. It wasn’t right, it wasn’t legal, it wasn’t workable—and it wasn’t going to happen under the new president’s watch. Or at least, if it was attempted, it would not be the fault of the government of the Union or its duly elected “chief magistrate”—himself.


“My countrymen, one and all,” said Mr. Lincoln, approaching his crescendo, “think calmly and well, upon this whole subject. Nothing valuable can be lost by taking time,” by not acting “in hot haste” and taking a “step which you would never take deliberately.” There was no “single good reason for precipitate action. Intelligence, patriotism, Christianity, and a firm reliance on Him, who has never yet forsaken this favored land, are still competent to adjust, in the best way, all our present difficulty.”13 Which led Mr. Lincoln to his own warning, despite his earlier assurances he was not addressing the hotheads, nor issuing a “menace.”


It was a warning, in particular, to President Davis—a direct response, or counterpunch—to the claim that Jefferson Davis, in his inaugural address three weeks earlier, had made in public, regarding the “arbitrament of the sword.” A challenge, or counter-challenge: daring Davis to make the first move. If he dared.


“In your hands, my dissatisfied fellow countrymen, and not in mine, is the momentous issue of civil war,” Mr. Lincoln maintained, addressing the frightening prospect directly for the first time. He paused.


“The government will not assail you,” the president-elect repeated, with emphasis.14


And he followed this by casting down the gauntlet to President Davis and his would-be rebels: “You can have no conflict, without being the aggressors.”15
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As president-elect, Abraham Lincoln had intended, earlier, to end his speech right there: a glove thrown down before President Davis—a former duelist—as well as the more than five million white inhabitants of Davis’s so-called Confederate States of America.


Against his better judgment, however, Mr. Lincoln had been persuaded by Senator William Seward—who only that very morning, after declining to serve in the Lincoln administration, had chosen to reconsider and agree, after all, to become the new U.S. secretary of state—to add a new ending to his speech. One that would permit the legally and constitutionally elected new president of the entire Union, the USA, to finish on an even more magnanimous, almost pleading note.


Mr. Lincoln’s last words, therefore, were more poetic, indeed saccharine. “We are not enemies, but friends. We must not be enemies. Though passion may have strained, it must not break our bonds of affection. The mystic chords of memory, stretching from every battlefield, and patriot grave, to every living heart and hearthstone, all over this broad land, will yet swell the chorus of the Union, when again touched, as surely they will be, by the better angels of our nature.”16


Without evident nervousness, the president-elect had delivered his entire oration in a loud, clear voice—for earlier that morning he’d wisely asked his son Robert to read it back to him, aloud, in order to hear how it sounded.
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Standing on the platform with his thick, full, wavy black hair and even thicker eyebrows, and dressed in his shiny new attire, Mr. Lincoln had looked and sounded convincing. Moreover, his confident bearing, in the view of most who heard him, had been matched by the sheer muscularity of his diction, and the calm seriousness of what he had to say, with no anecdotes or attempt at humor.


The sun continued to shine beneath the Capitol as Roger Taney—the eighty-three-year-old chief justice of the Supreme Court who had upheld the 1857 Dred Scott decision against the right of enslaved or even free Black people to be considered U.S. citizens, or to sue in federal court, and had ruled that slavery could not legally be excluded by Congress from the western “territories”—administered the traditional presidential oath of office, sworn by the sixteenth U.S. president on the Holy Bible.


Handing back Mr. Lincoln’s stovepipe hat, Democratic senator Stephen Douglas—the “Great Believer in Concession” to Southern political demands if their states would but remain in the Union—congratulated the Republican who’d beaten him in the November presidential election. Turning to others on the podium, Douglas said he thought the address “very dignified,” and would do much to “restore harmony to the country.”17


The Marine Band played “God Save the President,” as President Lincoln, now the official sixteenth president of the United States of America, accompanied by his loyal wife, Mary, was taken to the White House by James Buchanan in his open barouche: the enfeebled, outgoing president desperately anxious to get away from Washington to his home estate, Wheatfield, in Pennsylvania, as soon as possible.


One eager supporter—a young railway surveyor who would become a distinguished Union general—wrote his wife in near ecstasy, telling her: “Old Abe delivered the greatest speech of the age. The ‘Sermon on the Mount’ only excels it. It is backbone all over.”18


18
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A Fiat of War


AS THE TRANSCRIPT of Lincoln’s inaugural address made its way across the border of the new Confederate States of America, slaveholders and their spokesmen across the South were not amused. Or buying.


The Charleston Mercury’s Washington correspondent likened the U.S. president physically to an “Ourang-Outang.” Moreover, Mr. Lincoln’s solemn promises that “everything” in the South would stay just as it had been, if the Union was forthwith restored to amity, fell completely flat for the secession-mad journalist. The new president’s assurances were obviously a fiction; the inaugural speech was nothing, the journalist declared, if not a “fiat of war”—in fact the journalist called it a “declaration of war.”1


The paper’s editor was of like mind—the Mercury warning readers in South Carolina that, if the new president insisted upon carrying out what he’d called “the laws to preserve the Union,” then “there will be war.” It would be, in fact, “open, declared, positive war—with booming cannon and blood.”2


“If ignorance could add anything to folly, or insolence to brutality,” the newspaper’s editorial went on, “the President of the Northern States of America has, in this address, achieved it. A more lamentable display of feeble inability to grasp the circumstances of this momentous emergency could scarcely have been exhibited.”3


In Montgomery, new capital of the new Confederate States of America, there was a similar response. Vice President Alexander Stephens, the small, cadaverous-looking former U.S. congressman from Georgia, who had initially opposed secession, was of like mind. He’d opposed secession “to the last minute,” but had accepted his appointment as a way of tying the more conservative elements of the secession states to the Confederate government, once it was clear that secession was unstoppable.4 It was simply too late, Stephens felt—denouncing Mr. Lincoln’s lunacy in attempting to reglue the broken vessel that had once been the United States. (Though Stephens, himself a considerable orator, was heard to acknowledge, after reading it more carefully, that it was “the most adroit State paper ever published on this Continent.”)5


The secession of seven major states of the Deep South had duly taken place, one by one, with Texas now formally in the Confederate fold, after all. It was plainly fatuous to try to cajole and sweet-talk—but also frighten—the South into reconsidering its recent Declaration of Independence under its own Confederate Constitution.


Secession was now set in stone—or, if not quite stone, then in formal votes, declarations, and legal documentation, with a Confederate Constitution modeled almost entirely on that of the United States, but with the addition of slavery as a constitutionally protected slaveholder’s right, no longer a mere individual state’s right. The Deep South, in short, was now its own country, with its own laws: those of what they called, proudly, the Confederate States of America, or CSA.


The sixteenth U.S. president’s assurance that things in the South would stay the same as before, if the Southern states reversed engines, was thus worthless—not because people in the South didn’t believe Mr. Lincoln’s personal sincerity, necessarily, but because it was now no longer possible for Southern separatists to “think well” on their decision, and take back their steps. Were Confederate citizens really expected by Mr. Lincoln—a man who himself had feared assassination in the loyal but slaveholding state of Maryland, it had been reported—to simply tear up the pages of the new Confederate Constitution, and abandon their new Confederate Congress, as well as their new president and commander in chief—the hero of the battle of Buena Vista—and his cabinet in Montgomery?


Mr. Lincoln’s offer in his speech to be forbearing—to overlook, in effect, recent outrages against federal officials and places—was judged especially jejune. The new Confederacy was booming, economically. Cotton—which had enjoyed a bumper harvest in late 1860, picked by enslaved and unpaid Black laborers—was king: a product of the white South that was in demand across the entire world, and delivering immense profits. What possible reason was there for the seven Southern states, having plighted their troth to the “Confederate States of America” as a new, sovereign, and independent nation, to go back on their sworn commitment to pull together in the exciting new world: a world that was energizing frenzied Southern political leaders, cotton planters, slaveholders, slave auctioneers, and slave traffickers, as well as die-hard anti-abolitionists, young and old—white men and women indulging in a mass frenzy of defiance, anticipation, and renewal of Southern resolve in the face of Northern “domination”?


Mr. Lincoln’s address to his courtroom jury—the American public—amounted to nothing more than juridical semantics and reminders of how good were the good old political days of Union, going back to the previous century. Which they hadn’t been, in the Southern view, as a shrinking white minority facing a continually expanding, industrializing Northern section of the country, sporting their own paid but still very cheap labor force: immigrants.


Which left only war, if Mr. Lincoln was serious in trying to “hold” onto the last vestiges of federal control in the South. In particular: the major U.S. offshore fortresses of Fort Sumter at Charleston, South Carolina, and Fort Pickens at Pensacola, in Florida, on the Gulf of Mexico.


Reading Mr. Lincoln’s speech as it had come in over the telegraph, Davis’s vice president, Alexander Stephens, was heard to declare “the man is a fool!”6


6















PART TWO



FORT SUMTER
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The Gathering Storm


LOOKING BACK, in the months afterward, President Lincoln would bewail the five excruciating weeks that followed his inauguration in Washington—even though the ceremony itself had, surprisingly, gone off without a hitch. The subsequent days and weeks, however, as Abraham rued in a private talk with his Illinois friend Senator Orville Browning, had become the worst of his entire life.


How, Lincoln would confide to his dear friend, could such a national military crisis have arisen so quickly over Fort Sumter, of all places, in far-off South Carolina—and over such a tiny fort, with a garrison of barely eighty men? Mournfully, Mr. Lincoln would confess that “all the troubles and anxieties” of his existence on earth had not “equaled those which intervened” between March 4 and April 13, 1861, leading to open warfare between North and South—between the USA and the CSA.1


John Nicolay, the president’s new White House secretary, had been present at this, the president’s lament, and had jotted down that night in his diary the precise words that Mr. Lincoln, his hero, had used.


None of the many setbacks he’d ever faced, the president had confided, could compare with the countdown to war. Trials “so great,” Lincoln had reflected, that even had he “anticipated them, I would not have believed it possible to survive them.”2
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True, the sixteenth U.S. president had been dealt a poor hand by fate—or rather by the fifteenth U.S. president, James Buchanan, who had dared do nothing that might exacerbate the powder-keg situation in the country before handing over the reins of office. And nothing, either, to resolve it.


President Buchanan’s final, egregious failure to act manfully had come on the very day of Mr. Lincoln’s inauguration, on March 4, 1861.


At the White House that morning, Buchanan had known exactly the military quandary or crisis he was about to hand to his successor. For by messenger early that day an alarming new report had been received at the U.S. War Department from Major Robert Anderson, federal commanding officer of Fort Sumter, warning the secretary of war of ever-diminishing rations at the fortress. Major Anderson’s considered recommendation, as a trained and experienced military officer, was that it would be best now to evacuate the fort, and give it to the Confederacy. Because, the major went on to explain, it would probably require twenty thousand trained men to land on the adjacent coast to relieve and protect the fortress, and such an effort wasn’t worth it—at least, if the cost would be civil war.


At the final morning meeting of his cabinet on March 4, President Buchanan had shared this “alarming” news with his colleagues and advisers—including General Winfield Scott, the general-in-chief of the army. But not with Mr. Lincoln, his successor.


The cabinet sent no response, or even confirmation of receipt, to Major Anderson, nor did it prepare any memorandum on the subject for the incoming president. After ending the cabinet meeting and wishing his colleagues the best, President Buchanan simply set off in his carriage to collect Mr. Lincoln from the Willard Hotel for the inauguration ceremony itself at the Capitol—with no intention of mentioning the impending crisis at Charleston.


Neither in the open carriage nor on the specially erected stand beneath the Capitol building did President Buchanan share the alarming news with the president-elect. For the fact was: President Buchanan had nothing against Mr. Lincoln as a politician, but possessed no more faith in Mr. Lincoln as a military man than he did in himself. The matter would have to be dealt with by the new president’s cabinet, Buchanan felt, once the new president announced it, and the Senate approved Mr. Lincoln’s choices—especially his secretary of war.


As Mr. Buchanan had put it to the departing colleagues of his own cabinet, the Sumter problem was “now a matter for the new administration,” and they would learn soon enough, once the Senate confirmed the president’s appointments, what was what—perhaps the very next day.3
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Why, Mr. Lincoln would afterward wonder, did President Buchanan say nothing of Major Anderson’s report to him, even after hearing out the new president’s speech—in which he had promised to “hold, occupy, and possess” all federal forts and installations in the South still in government hands—or when taking Mr. Lincoln back in his carriage from the Capitol to the White House to begin his four-year term in executive office facing possible civil war? Instead, Mr. Buchanan had merely said he hoped the new president would find himself as “happy” settling into the White House as he, James Buchanan, would be in retiring to his beloved estate in Pennsylvania.4


Happy? Happy to be inheriting a nation being ripped apart, and potentially crippled, by mass rebellion? And with its most symbolic U.S. fortress in the South, at the epicenter of the nation’s current crisis, an almost literal sitting duck in Charleston’s harbor, running out of provisions, and impossible to relieve without assigning more troops to its protection than constituted the nation’s entire army?


Happy?
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Despite Buchanan’s refusal to alert Mr. Lincoln to the perilous situation at Charleston, the departing president of the United States was not necessarily mistaken, however, in imagining his successor’s elation at having reached the highest office, and arguably grandest mansion, in the land—and from such lowly, log-cabin origins.


Mr. Lincoln, after all, had started life in a simple wooden hut, the son of illiterate parents—his mother probably illegitimate, his father a hard-scrabble frontier farmer in Kentucky. It would be, in Mr. Buchanan’s mind, entirely understandable, even laudable, to feel proud of such a wonderful—and wonderfully American—personal trajectory. And in this respect, at least, President Buchanan was not wrong. For the U.S. presidency, without a scintilla of doubt, was the prize Abraham Lincoln had always dreamed of—back from the time the six-foot, four-inch tall outdoor youth, with no formal education to speak of, gave up being a land surveyor, embraced the law, and first entered politics.


The presidency was something Mr. Lincoln’s petite wife, Mary Todd Lincoln, had also dreamed of, ever since Mary had been a girl growing up in Kentucky.


As with Abraham, Mary’s mother had died when she was small—but finding herself constantly at odds with her stepmother, she’d been sent to a girl’s boarding school, where she’d received an unusually good education. Leaving Kentucky as a teenager, she’d moved, like Lincoln eventually, to Springfield, Illinois—but in her case to live with a wealthy married sister. She’d been staying there when Abraham, as a young, self-educated lawyer, had first met her in the town.


Far more eligible suitors than the ill-born Abe had courted pretty Mary—including the later-celebrated Stephen Douglas, no less! But Mary—with a fine education and a hatred of her stepmother that kept her largely away from Kentucky—had recognized as a teenager, still, what no one else had seemed to notice at the time: namely that the giraffe-like young lawyer with the high-water pants, ten years her senior, had an uncommon mind. A mind which, if she harnessed herself and her ambition to it, could take her with him to the Senate. Even the White House, her own childhood dream! As she’d said to a friend, when a girl, “I am going to be the president’s wife some day”—and after dating Abraham, she’d assured another that “You will see that, as I always told you, I will yet be the President’s wife.”5


How galling, then, that Stephen Douglas, the diminutive (five-foot, four-inch) Illinois lawyer known as the “Little Giant,” had beaten out Abraham for the state’s vacant U.S. Senate seat in 1858, taking the very role and position Mary had coveted for herself, Abe, their children, their relatives, and friends, as a stepping stone to the presidential palace. Yet, despite suffering devastating bouts of “nervous spells,” as Lincoln called them—“uncontrollable rages,” “a very violent temper,” jealousy often akin to temporary insanity (“really a species of madness”)—she’d resolved to plow ahead, regardless, in their common pursuit.6 She would get Abraham to pick himself up from the floor following his defeat to Douglas, dust him off, and make him try again—which, in due course, she’d done.
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The second time Abraham Lincoln had competed with Douglas had been for the very presidency of the United States—this, in the summer of 1860, when Douglas had stood as a Democratic Party candidate for the post. And thanks to the split arising between Senator Stephen Douglas’s Democratic party supporters, on the one hand, and on the other, Democratic supporters of Senator John Breckinridge of Kentucky, Mary’s husband, Abraham—the outsider, a “Black Republican” (as Douglas had coined the phrase, to smear Lincoln for his opposition to slavery)—had actually won the election and become president-elect.


How the victory had swelled Mary’s heart—far more than his own, in fact, as Abraham later recalled of election night the previous November.7 Dreams do sometimes come true, Mary had felt, celebrating in Springfield and imagining her future as First Lady in the fabled White House in Washington.
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